Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
800 Starbuck Avenue, Suite 800
Watertown, New York 13601
Telephone: (315) 782-5865 or (800) 553-4111 Facsimile (315) 782-7915
www.jcida.com

Date:

To:

From:

Re:

Notice of Board Meeting

July 21, 2021

John Jennings

Robert Aliasso

W. Edward Walldroff
Paul Warneck
William Johnson
Lisa L’Huillier

Chairman David Converse

Notice of Board of Directors’ Meeting

The Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency will hold their monthly Board Meeting on
Thursday, August 5, 2021 at 8:30 a.m. in the board room at 800 Starbuck Avenue, Watertown,

NY.

The live stream link will be available at www.jcida.com.

Please confirm your attendance with Peggy Sampson pssampson(@jcida.com at your earliest

convenience.
pss
@ David Zembiec, CEQ

Marshall Weir
Lyle Eaton
Christine Powers
Greg Gardner
Kent Burto

Rob Aiken

Justin Miller, Esq.
Media



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
800 Starbuck Avenue, Suite 800
Watertown, New York 13601
Telephone: (315) 782-5865 or (800) 553-4111 Facsimile (315) 782-7915
www.jcida.com .

IL
III.

IY.

VI

VII.

VIII.

IX.

BOARD MEETING AGENDA
Thursday, August 5, 2021 - 8:30 a.m.

Call to Order

Pledge of Allegiance

Privilege of the Floor

Minutes — July 9, 2021

Treasurer’s Report — July 31, 2021
Committee Reports

a. Loan Review Committee
i. Consider Resolution No. 08.05.2021.01 for Brooks Delivery, LLC

Unfinished Business
1. 146 Arsenal Street Building/YMCA Project
2. Corporate Park Zoning

3. DigiCollect PILOT/LDA
New Business
1. 2021-2022 Budget

Counsel

1. DigiCollect
2. The Gill House, LLC

Adjournment



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes
July 9, 2021 DR ﬁx@ﬁ“

The Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency held their board meeting on Friday, July 9, 2021 in
the board room at 800 Starbuck Avenue, Watertown, NY and virtually via zoom.

Present; David Converse, Chair, W. Edward Walldroff, William Johnson, Paul Warneck, Robert E.
Aliasso, Jr., Lisa L’Huillier, John Jennings

Excused: None

Absent: None

Also Present: Rob Aiken, Christine Powers, Brendan Straub from 7/News, Brad Arthur from Paradigm
Environmental, Michael Harris from BCA Architects & Engineering, Ed Valentine from Opal
Development/Valentine Stores, Ken Gleason from Town of Rutland, Norm Paradis from Town of Worth,

Hari Achuthan, Convalt Energy

Zoom: Justin Miller, Esq., Craig Fox from the Watertown Daily Times

Staff Present: David Zembiec, Lyle Eaton, Joy Nuffer, Marshall Weir, Jay Matteson
| I.  Call to Order: Chairman Converse called the meeting to order at 8:36 a.m.
II.  Privilege of the Floor: Mr. Converse invited guests to speak.

Mr. Paradis from the Town of Worth stated he was opposed to the proposed changes to the UTEP
as his concern was the town would lose funding.

Mr. Gleason from the Town of Rutland stated he was concerned with the Host Community
Agreement change in the proposed UTEP.

Mr. Valentine stated he was interested in what the Board is doing as far as zoning changes in the
Corporate Park,

III.  Minutes: Minutes of the regular meeting held June 3, 2021 and the special meeting held June 14,
2021 were presented. A motion to approve the minutes as presented was made by Mr. Aliasso,
seconded by Mr. Jennings. All in favor. Carried.

IV.  Treasurer’s Report: Mr. Aliasso reviewed the financials for the period ending June 30, 2021.
After discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Aliasso to accept the financial report as presented,

seconded by Mr. Johnson, All in favor. Carried.
V.  Committee Reports:

a. Loan Review Committee — Mr. Aliasso reviewed the minutes.

i. Resolution No. 07.09.2021.01 for Standard Machine and Fabrication — After
review and discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Warneck to approve the
attached resolution, seconded by Mr. Aliasso. All in favor. Carried.

1
8



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes

VI.  Unfinished Business:

1.

3.

Corporate Park Zoning — Mr. Zembiec updated the Board that the Town of Watertown
Planning Board would prefer not to amend zoning or create an overlay for the Corporate
Park. Instead, they would require confirmation from the JCIDA that the project complies with
the covenants before they grant site plan approval. However, the need to confirm this is
enforceable by the town. He stated that puts the JCIDA in a bad position. The JCIDA Board
feels we should have a work session to consider an overlay district. Attorney Miller stated it

would require a closer look and an analysis of recourse.

Solitude Solar (USLE Philadelphia A-D) Application Fee Refund Request — Mr. Zembiec
briefed the Board about a request from Solitude Solar to refund the $10,000 they had paid in
application fees for the four projects in the town of Philadelphia. It was mentioned that the
fees are non-refundable, and a significant amount of work went into the potential projects,
although they did pull the projects from consideration before we went through a coAfier
discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Warneck to refund half of the fees, $5,000 to Solitude
Solar, seconded by Mr. Aliasso. All in favor. Carried.

146 Arsenal Street Building/YMCA Project —
a. BCA Architects & Engineering Proposal for Hazard Materials Abatement

Scope of Services for 146 Arsenal Street — Mr. Harris from BCA Architects &
Engineering gave a brief update to the Board. A motion was made by Mr. Warneck to
approve the proposal, for a 7.5% fee of project costs plus expenses, seconded by Mr.
Aliasso. All in favor. Carried.

b. Paradigm Environmental Proposal for Hazard Materials Abatement Consulting
Services for Design, Monitoring and Management - Mr. Zembiec asked Mr.
Arthur from Paradigm Environmental to give an update to the Board on the status of
the PCB remediation. Mr. Arthur stated that the test work has been completed, and it
appears that there will not need to be a chemical extraction. He believes the
scarification of the concrete will need to go to a depth of 1/4 inch. They would do an
initial amount of 1/8 inch then go another 1/8 inch. The question was posed could
funds be saved if they go directly to the 1/4 inch, to which Mr. Arthur replied they
can only do 1/8 of an inch at a time anyway. He stated that the waste product needs to
be disposed of carefully, sent by special truck to Michigan to an incinerator
specifically for this type of waste, They have been in close contact with the EPA, and
the next step is developing a remediation plan for that will be approved. A motion
was made by Mr, Warneck to approve the engagement letter from Paradigm
Environmental, LLC, which includes EPA and design work related to the remediation
of PCB’s, seconded by Mr. Johnson. The total estimate was $249,500.00. There was
discussion by the Board of giving Mr. Zembiec the ability to adjust up to a 10%
difference in the costs, Attorney Miller agreed that would be appropriate. A motion
was made by Mr. Warneck to amend the previous motion to allow for Mr. Zembiec,
CEO to adjust up to 10% without returning to the Board for additional approval,
seconded by Mr. Johnson. All in favor. Carried.

2
sl



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes

July 9, 2021

VII. New Business:

1. Annual Project Verification Report — Mr. Zembiec updated the Board on the Annual

Project Verification Report. There was a brief discussion,

Resolution No. 07.09.2021.03 for 146 Arsenal Street Cubicle Removal — Mr. Eaton stated
that the Board would need to approve this Resolution prior to the next one. Mr. Weir updated
the board on the removal of the cubicles at 146 Arsenal Street. A motion was made by Mr.

Aliasso to approve the attached resolution, seconded by Mr. Jennings. All in favor. Carried.

Resolution No. 07.09.2021.02 for 146 Arsenal Street Disposal of Fixed Assets — Mr. Eaton
updated the Board that this is just a financial management resolution. There was a brief
discussion. A motion was made by Mr. Aliasso to approve the attached resolution, seconded
by Mr. Warneck. All in favor. Carried.

VIII. Counsel:

1.

Authorizing Resolution No. 07.09.2021.04 for Adoption of Amendments to Uniform Tax
Exemption Policy — Mr. Warneck gave an overview for the guests in attendance that the
JCIDA always likes to get all three parties, the County, School & Towns involved in any
UTEP that may come to the area. Negotiations for payments in addition to our standard
PILOT should be with all affected jurisdictions to keep things fair to all parties. It was
discussed that the land under any potential solar project, for an example, is still on the tax
rolls at full taxation and any PILOT agreements would add to the tax dollars that the towns
would not have had to begin with. The additional language in the UTEP just allows the
JCIDA the latitude to be aware of any HCA that might cause a project to possibly not come
to fruition. Mr. Walldroff stated the wording of the UTEP is tailored to work together with
any taxing jurisdictions and a Host Community Agreement, if in fact a town wished to go that
route. It was discussed that the UTEP only is applicable to renewable projects up to 20
megawatts, anything over this amount would be a deviation, and that size would be a state
matter. Mr. Paradis asked that the UTEP changes be tabled for further review. Mr. Zembiec
stated that all taxing jurisdictions had been notified and there had been a public hearing, The
Board members concurred that enough notifications had been given. The Board asked Mr.
Zembiec to respond to Mr. Burrows who had sent a letter in response to the potential changes
in the UTEP, and also asked Attorney Miller to review any response before it was sent.

A motion was made by Mr. Warneck to approve the attached resolution, seconded by Mr.
Aliasso. Roll call vote was taken. Mr. Aliasso — Yea, Mr. Converse — Yea, Mr. Jennings —
Yea, Mr. Johnson — Yea, Ms. L Huillier — Yea, Mr. Walldroff — Yea, Mr. Warneck — Yea.

Carried, §

Executive Session — At 10:20 a.m, a motion was made by Ms. L’Huillier to enter an executive
session to discuss potential sale of property, seconded by Mr. Aliasso. All in favor. Carried.
Board Members (including JCLDC Board Members), Mr. Achuthan, Staff and Attorney Miller

remained.



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes
July 9, 2021

IX.

At 10:41 a.m. a motion was made by Mr. Aliasso to leave executive session, seconded by Mr.
Johnson. All in favor. Carried.

2.

Initial Project Resolution No. 07.09.2021.05 for Convalt Energy, Inc. and Convalt
Manufacturing, LLC — Phase I Project and LDA — Mr. Achuthan updated the Board on
the progress of the projects. He stated that they have purchased production lines from Sun
Power in Oregon, and they are in the process of dismantling the machines to package for
shipping to Watertown. They still plan on a timeline of July 2022 of having the company in
operation. He believes they will be the top producer of solar panels in this country. The size
of the facility is now going to be 315,000 square feet. He is working on providing sustainable
power for the factory. He stated the employment projections are 290 to begin with on 2 shifts.
Mr. Achuthan stated he hopes to break ground by October 1, 2021.

A motion was made by Ms. L Huillier to approve the attached resolution, seconded by Mr.
Johnson. Roll call vote was taken. Mr. Converse — Yea, Mr. Jennings — Absent, Mr. Aliasso
— Yea, Mr. Walldroff — Yea, Mr. Johnson — Yea, Ms. L’Huillier - Yea, Mr. Warneck - Yea.

Carried.

Executive Session — At 11:15 a.m. a motion was made by Mr. Aliasso to enter an executive
session to discuss proprietary financial information of a particular individual or corporation,
seconded by Mr. Johnson. All in favor. Carried. Board Members (including JCLDC Board
Members), Mr. Achuthan, Staff and Attorney Miller remained.

At 11:45 a.m. a motion was made by Mr. Aliasso to leave executive session, seconded by Mr.
Warneck. All in favor. Carried.

Adjournment: With no further business before the board, a motion to adjourn was made by Mr.
Aliasso, seconded by Mr. Warneck. All in favor. The meeting adjourned at 11:45 a.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Foy Vffer



JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
Resolution Number 07.09.2021.01

RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZING A MICRO ENTERPRISE LOAN TO
Standard Machine and Fabrication

WHEREAS, Justin Poirier, owner of Standard Machine and Fabrication requested by
application to this Agency a Micro Enterprise Loan in the amount of Twenty Thousand Dollars
($20,000.00) to purchase equipment to establish a machine shop that will provide service to local
vehicle repair shops, and

WHEREAS, Staff reviewed this request and recommends approval of a loan in the
amount of $20,000 for a five-year amortization with a rate of 5%. Personnel will include the
owner and 2 additional positions in year one. Collateral will be a second position lien on the
equipment behind Watertown Savings Bank and a personal guarantee of Justin Poirier. The loan
will be contingent upon bank financing, and

WHEREAS, on June 23, 2021, the Loan Review Committee of the Jefferson County
Industrial Development Agency reviewed this request and recommended approval of the loan
and terms to the full Board of Directors, and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the Jefferson
County Industrial Development Agency that it herein approved the request for a Twenty
Thousand Dollar ($20,000.00) loan to Standard Machine and Fabrication with all terms and
conditions as set forth in this Resolution, and be it further,

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Secretary and/or Chief Executive
Officer are authorized and directed to execute any and all documents necessary to carry out the

purposes of this Resolution.

This resolution shall take effect immediately.

WL L)

W.Edward Walldroff
Secretary




JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Resolution Number 07.09.2021.02
for 146 Arsenal Street Disposal of Fixed Assets

WHEREAS, during the 2014 renovations to 146 Arsenal Street building, JCIDA paid for
several of the fixed assets listed below:

[tems: Cost Depreciate Months Dollars Dollars

Months Remaining | Depr. Left
(Expense)

Floor 60,945 60 0 60,945.00 0.00

Finishing/New

Carpet

Wall 48,000 60 0 48,000.00 0.00

Finishes/Graphic

Art

Ceiling 97,070 120 34 69,567.12 27,502.88

Diffusers

Chairs (140) 47,726 120 34 34,203.92 13,522.08

Cabling Work 249,000 120 34 178,450.00 | 70,550.00

Total $502,741 $391,166.04 | $111,574.96

WHEREAS, the items have been depreciating since 6/1/14, and

WHEREAS, since all of the fixed assets will be disposed of by July 1, 2021, the CFO is
requesting them to be removed from the balance sheet, and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the board of Directors of the Jefferson
County Industrial Agency that it hereby approves the request, and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Chief Executive Officer or his designee is hereby authorized and
directed to execute any and all documents necessary to carry out the purposes of this Resolution.

4

Secretary

This resolution shall take effect immediately.




JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Resolution Number 07.09.2021.03
for 146 Arsenal Street Cubicle Removal

WHEREAS, Staff has been working to get the cubicles out of the building. We have
donated many cubicles to a variety of businesses throughout the area. Unfortunately, within the
current landscape of office space and office furniture, there is little demand for cubicles. We
have had local businesses, schools, non-profits, and hospitals take some of the cubicles, but
approximately 300 of the workstations remain, and

WHEREAS, we requested 3 quotes from local contractors to remove the cubicles from
the building and place them into a dumpster located in front of the building. Capital
Construction is the lowest bidder quoted at $5,800. The 40-yard dumpster is $200 per dumpster
hauling fee and DANC has agreed to reduced tipping fees of $31.50 per ton. Staff is currently
working on additional savings through another vendor for hauling and tipping.

WHEREAS, we recommend authorization to spend up to $10,000 for the contractor, the
dumpster and tipping fees, and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the board of Directors of the Jefferson
County Industrial Agency that it hereby approves the request, and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Chief Executive Officer or his designee are authorized and
directed to execute any and all documents necessary to carry out the purposes of this Resolution.

This resolution shall take effect immediately.

. B Ward Wall roff
Secretary



AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION
(Adoption of Amendments to Uniform Tax Exemption Policy)

A regular meeting of the Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency was convened
on Friday July 9, 2021 at 8:30 a.m.

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit:
Resolution No. 07.09.2021.04

RESOLUTION OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (THE “AGENCY”) ADOPTING AMENDMENTS
TO ITS UNIFORM TAX EXEMPTION POLICY (“UTEP”)

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 369 of the Laws of 1971 of the State of New York, (the
“Act”), the JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (the
“Agency”) was created with the authority and power to promote, develop, encourage -and assist
in acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing
industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial, research, and recreational facilities as
authorized by the Act, and in connection therewith to issue its revenue bonds, and/or enter into
straight lease transactions and provide other forms of financial assistance; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to and in accordance with Section §74(4) of the Act, the Agency
has adopted and maintained a Uniform Tax Exemption Policy (herein, a “UTEP”), which was
adopted on February 1, 2018 and most recently reviewed on October 1, 2020; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the Agency’s desire to amend the UTEP to (i) include a
special classification of “Renewable Energy Projects” in accordance with recent amendments to
the Act; and (ii) establish a uniform abatement schedule for Renewable Energy Projects under 20
MWac, the Agency has prepared amendments to the UTEP (the “Amended UTEP”) for

consideration and approval; and

WHEREAS, the Agency previously circulated the Amended UTEP to all applicable
affected tax jurisdictions (“ATJs”) soliciting comments and inviting the ATJs to provide
comment and input relating to same; and

WHEREAS, the Agency also previously scheduled, noticed and conducted a public
hearing with respect to the Amended UTEP on June 24, 2021 at 9:30 a.m. at 800 Starbuck
Avenue, Suite 800, Watertown, New York 13601, whereby the Agency invited any members of
the public and all ATJs to provide written comments and/or attend the Agency’s public hearing
prior to the Agency’s consideration of the adoption of the Amended UTEP; and

WHEREAS, the Agency has received and reviewed written comment and questions on
the Amended UTEP from certain ATJs and others; and

Fa.crp !

-10-



WHEREAS, upon consideration of the Amended UTEP and all comments received, the
Agency desires to adopt same.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE JEFFERSON
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The Agency hereby adopts the Amended UTEP as set forth within Exhibit
A, hereto.

Section 2. These Resolutions shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

Page 2
T



The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolutions was duly put to vote on roll
call, which resulted as follows:

Yea Nay Absent Abstain
Robert E. Aliasso, Jr. X
David J. Converse X
John Jennings X
William W. Johnson %X
Lisa L'Huillier X
W. Edward Walldroff X
Paul J. Warneck X

The resolutions were thereupon duly adopted.

FPap= 1
<19



STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) ss:

I, the undersigned (Acting) Secretary of the Jefferson County Industrial Development
Agency, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:

That I have compared the foregoing extract of the minutes of the meeting of the Jefferson
County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) including the resolution contained
therein, held on July 9, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a
true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolution set forth therein
and of the whole of said original insofar as the same relates to the subject matters therein referred

to.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting,
that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public
notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with Article 7.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present
throughout said meeting. )

[ FURTHER CERTIFY that as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force
and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal of safd Agency this i »
day of . Siég&:}: , 2021. q

Ctzfggii%wg)(ng ’x£€\l

W. Edward Walldroff, Secre:tvary / /

[SEAL]

o o b iy
L A

Page 4
~13~



EXHIBIT A
FORM OF AMENDED UTEP




UNIFORM TAX EXEMPTION POLICY

JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
UNIFORM TAX EXEMPTION POLICY AND GUIDELINES

Pursuant to the authority vested in it by Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the of the
State of New York, the Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) may
provide financial assistance to qualified applicants for the taxable bonds or by participation in
straight lease transactions.

The general policy of the Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) is to
grant applicants real property tax abatements and exemptions from sales, use and mortgage
recording taxes as described below. The Agency may grant enhanced benefits on a case-by-case
basis for a project expected to have a significant economic impact on the County of Jefferson as

determined by the Agency’s members.

The Agency generally does not require real property appraisals to be performed as part of the
application for financial assistance. However, the Agency does reserve the right to require a real
property appraisal as part of an application for financial assistance.

The Agency has adopted this Uniform tax Exemption Policy to provide guidelines for the
claiming of real property, sales and use tax and mortgage recording tax abatements.

A. Real Property Tax Abatements.

1) Industrial and Non-Industrial Projects. The Agency maintains a policy for the

provision of real property tax abatements for qualified projects undertaken by the Agency
where the Agency acquires a fee or leasehold interest in real estate. The abatement provided
by the Agency for qualifying industrial and non-industrial projects shall apply to the value
added to real property brought about by construction and/or renovation of qualifying projects
(the "Added Value"), above the parcel's assessed value prior to construction or renovation (the
"Base Value"). In establishing these values, the Agency shall have the option of relying on
data provided by the assessor for the impacted jurisdiction or requiring the applicant to furnish
an appraisal from a qualified commercial real estate appraiser, approved in advance by the

Agency.

The period of real property tax abatement for a project shall not exceed the period of the
respective project financing or lease, and under no circumstances shall the period of abatement
exceed fifteen (15) years (the "PILOT Term"). The abatement shall be on a graduated schedule
applicable to county, municipal and school real property taxes, and will result in increasing
percentages of real property taxes due over the PILOT Term. Any schedule shall be graduated
such that the total abatement provided shall not exceed a fifty percent (50%) abatement over a
fifteen (15) year period. Eligible projects include industrial projects (i.e. manufacturing,
remanufacturing, assembly, processing, product research and development, etc.); non-industrial
projects (i.e. warehouse, wholesale/distribution, commercial, qualified retail subject to the

Adopted 7/9/2021 -15- |



limitations of Section 862(2) of the Act, office building, renewable energy (subject to the PILOT
terms set forth below) and hotel projects.

2) Renewable Energy Projects The Agency may provide real property tax
abatements to renewable energy projects, as defined within the Act to include any project and
associated real property on which the project is situated, that utilizes any system or equipment as
set forth in Section 487 of the Real Property Tax Law (“RPTL”) or as defined pursuant to
paragraph (b) of subdivision one of Section 66-p of the Public Service Law as added by chapter
one hundred six of the laws of 2019, with a rated capacity of less than 20 megawatts AC. The
Agency has established a standard PILOT Structure for Renewable Energy Projects, as follows:

a. Term: The PILOT abatement schedule for Renewable Energy Projects shall Ee
no more than 15 years.

b. Fixed Payment Schedule for Renewable Energy Improvements: Agency
PILOT Agreements for Renewable Energy Projects shall provide a fixed dollar
amount per megawatt AC faceplate rating of the project. The payment
schedule will include a minimum of two percent (2%) escalator on the prior
year’s payment. Once so calculated, the Agency reserves the right to alter the
order in which the payments are made.

c. PILOT Agreements for Renewable Energy Projects shall also require annual
payment of the equivalent of full taxes on the land included within the project
facility, which shall be based upon the assessed value as determined by the
applicable assessor. Portions of existing tax parcels not included within a
project ground lease will remain classified as fully taxable.

d. Any participation by the Agency in sponsoring a renewable energy project
shall take into account whether a project sponsor enters into one or more host
community agreement(s).

B. Sales and Use Tax Exemptions.

The Agency maintains a policy for the provision of sales and use tax exemptions for
qualified projects undertaken by the Agency. Where the Agency authorizes the undertaking
of a project in accordance with the Act and has appointed an applicant its agent to undertake
same, the Agency may enter into one or more agreements with such applicant evidencing such
appointment and allowing the applicant to purchase and/or lease materials, equipment and
taxable services as agent of the Agency. The abatement provided by the Agency for qualifying
projects shall apply to purchases of construction materials and equipment rentals and
purchases of project related equipment, furnishings and services made as agent for the
Agency, and are therefore afforded full exemption from local and New York State Sales and
Use Taxes until the project is completed (i.e. certificate of occupancy). Operating and
maintenance expenses of projects are not eligible for sales or use tax relief and no sales tax
exemption shall be provided by the Agency for purchases and rentals after a project is

completed.

Adopted 7/9/2021 -16- 2



All project applicants must agree in writing to file with the New York State Department of
Taxation Form ST-340, and/or such other forms as may from time to time be required, and annual
statement of the value of all sales and use taxes exemption claimed in connection with the facility
in full compliance with Section 874(8) of the Act.

C Mortgage Recording Tax Exemptions.

The Agency maintains a policy to provide mortgage recording tax exemptions for
qualified projects undertaken by the Agency. Where the Agency authorizes the undertaking
of a project in accordance with the Act and the applicant secures one or more loans to pay for
project acquisition or improvements that will be secured against the project with one or more
mortgages, the Agency may participate as a non-recourse mortgagor with the applicant for
purposes of exempting any mortgage recording taxes that would otherwise be due and payable
but for the Agency's involvement with the project. The Agency's Policy is to permit mortgage
recording tax exemptions on all project related financing to the full extent permitted by New
York State Law, whether or not the Agency has issued its bonds to finance the Project.

The Agency may, in its sole discretion, permit mortgage recording tax exemptions on
non-project related financings, (e.g. second mortgages on the project to secure subordinated
indebtedness of the project applicant). In determining whether to permit such exemptions on
non-project related financing, the Agency shall consider such factors as it deems appropriate,
including but not limited to the use of the property, the degree of investment, the degree and
nature of the employment and the economic condition of the areas in which the facility is

located.
D. Deviations.

Any project not listed in this policy or any proposed PILOT Agreement, the terms of
which are outside the provisions of this policy, as determined by the Agency, shall be treated
as adeviation. In accordance with the Act, the Agency shall notify affected taxing jurisdictions
prior to undertaking any proposed deviation from this policy and the reasons therefore. Any
deviations from the foregoing standard policy shall require the affirmative consent of each
affected taxing jurisdiction and will be made only with the specific approval of the Agency's
members based on the factors listed in paragraph E to this policy and those described in Section
874(4)(a) of the Act.

E. Evaluation Criteria.

The determination of whether a project is qualified to receive financial assistance from the
Agency shall be based on the criteria identified in the Agency's cost benefit analysis and the
Application. In making its determination the Agency may consider any or all of the following
criteria, no single one of which is determinative:

1) The nature of the proposed project (e.g., manufacturing, commercial, renewable
energy, etc.).

Adopted 7/9/2021 -17- 3



2) The nature of the property before the project begins (e.g., vacant land, vacant
building, brownfield, etc.) ‘

3) The economic condition of the area at the time of the application and the economic
multiplying effect the project will have on the area.

4) The extent to which the project will create or retain permanent, private sector jobs
within Jefferson County, the number of jobs to be created/retained and/or the salary ranges of
such jobs.

5) The number of construction jobs associated with the project and the extent to which
the project utilizes local labor.

6) The estimated value of tax exemptions to be provided.
7) The estimated value of other public assistance.

8) The economic impact of the project and the proposed tax exemptions on affected
taxing jurisdictions.

9 The impact of the proposed project on existing and proposed businesses and
economic development projects in the vicinity.
10)  The amount of private sector investment generated or llkely to be generated within

Jefferson County by the proposed project.
11)  The likelihood of accomplishing the proposed project in a timely fashion.

12)  The effect of the proposed project upon the environment and surrounding
property.

13)  The extent to which the proposed project will require the provision of additional
services including, but not limited to, educational, transportation, emergency medical or police
and fire services.

14)  The extent to which the proposed project when completed will enhance the long-
term tax base and/or make a significant capital investment.

15)  The extent to which the proposed project will provide a benefit (economic or
otherwise) not otherwise available within the municipality in which the project is located.

16)  the contribution of the project to the State's Renewable Energy Goals and emission
reduction targets as set forth in the New York State Energy Plan adopted pursuant to Section 6-
104 of the Energy Law.

17)  Any other pertinent reasons deemed relevant by the Agency provided said reasons
are set further in writing.

218=
Adopted 7/9/2021 "



F. PILOT Agreement Approval Process.

All applications for PILOT agreements shall be reviewed and evaluated pursuant to the
Agency's existing policies, and the applicant shall be required to adhere to these policies for the
duration of the PILOT Term. Failure to do so may result in cancellation of the PILOT at the
Agency's sole discretion.

The Agency shall comply with applicable provisions of the Act in connection with the
provision of financial assistance to any applicant requesting financial assistance of more than
$100,000, including the scheduling and conduct of a public hearing in accordance with Section
859-a of the Act. In addition to public hearing notice requirements contained within the Act, the
agency has established the following practices:

1) Prior to conducting any required public hearings for a project, Agency staff shall
work closely with representatives of the affected taxing jurisdictions to discuss the proposed
project and shall provide each affected taxing jurisdiction with the following materials: (i) a
copy of the application submitted to the Agency, (i) a cost-benefit analysis relating to the
project, (iii) a summary of the terms and structure of financial assistance to be provided by the
Agency (including proposed PILOT abatement or payment schedule(s); (iv) whether the
Agency is considering a deviation from this policy with respect to the proposed project; and (v)
any additional information an affected taxing jurisdiction may ‘deem necessary or appropriate
to their deliberations.

2) The Agency's final approval of any PILOT Agreement shall be contingent upon the
applicant securing all approvals required for the project from any impacted _]ur1sdlct1on and
providing proof thereof to the Agency.

3) The Agency's final consideration and approval of a PILOT Agreement shall be
contingent upon compliance with the New York State Environmental Review Act and the
regulation promulgated thereunder (SEQRA). For all actions considered to be Type I under
SEQRA the Agency shall be considered an involved agency, and the applicant shall be
responsible to identify the Agency as such in its submittals to the Lead Agency.

4) Each project receiving any abatement from real property taxes will be subject to a
PILOT Agreement in a form acceptable to the Agency and in compliance with the Act. The Agency
will consider project factors, similar to those described in paragraph F to this policy, when
determining the amounts to be paid under the PILOT Agreement.

5) A copy of the PILOT Agreement will be forwarded to each of the affected taxing
jurisdictions within fifteen (15) days of execution. In accordance with Section 858(15) of the
Act, unless otherwise agreed by the affected taxing jurisdictions, all PILOT Agreements shall
provide that PILOT Payments received shall be allocated among the affected taxing
jurisdictions in proportion to the amount of real property tax and other taxes which would have
been received by each affected taxing jurisdiction had the project not been tax exempt as a
result of the Agency's involvement in the project.

Adopted 7/9/2021 -19- 5



6) If it is desired by the affected taxing jurisdictions to establish a negotiated
allocation of PILOT payments for a particular project (other than pro-rata), the Agency shall
provide the affected taxing jurisdiction with forms of approving resolutions for consideration
in connection with the establishment of an agreed distribution formula. Any allocation of
PILOT payments other than pro-rata shall be considered to be a deviation requiring affirmative
consent of all affected taxing jurisdictions.

7)  The Agency shall require all project applicants to make commitments with respect
to the use of local labor and all such project sponsors shall comply with any and all applicable
codes of conduct with respect to ethics and conflicts of interest, and in accordance with all
applicable policies of the Agency.

G. Recapture of Benefits.

Project applicants must agree that the agency, at its sole discretion and on a case-by-
case basis, may determine, (but shall not be required to do so) with respect to a particular
project, that a project has failed to meet its intended goals and may recapture the value of any
or all exemptions from taxation granted with respect to the project by virtue of the Agency's
involvement. The Agency's review and determination in connection with the recapture of
benefits shall be conducted pursuant to the Agency's Recapture Policy, as the same may be
amended from time to time.

H. Effective Date.

This Uniform Tax Exemption Policy shall apply to all projects for which the Agency has
adopted an Inducement Resolution after July 9, 2021.

I. Amendments.
The Agency, by resolution of its members, and upon notice to all affected taxing

jurisdictions as may be required by law, may amend or modify the foregoing policy as it may,
from time: to time, in its sole discretion determine.

90
Adopted 7/9/2021



INITIAL PROJECT RESOLUTION
(Convalt Energy, Inc. and Convalt Manufacturing, LLC —Phase 1 Project and LDA)

A regular meeting of the Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency convened on
Friday, July 9, 2021 at 8:30 a.m.

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit:
Resolution No. 07.09.2021.05

RESOLUTION OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (THE “AGENCY”) (i) ACCEPTING AN
APPLICATION SUBMITTED BY CONVALT ENERGY, INC., FOR ITSELF
AND/OR ON BEHALF OF ONE OR MORE ENTITIES TO BE FORMED,
INCLUDING CONVALT MANUFACTURING, LLC (COLLECTIVELY, THE
“COMPANY”) WITH RESPECT TO A CERTAIN PROJECT (AS DESCRIBED
BELOW); (ii) AUTHORIZING THE SCHEDULING AND CONDUCT OF A
PUBLIC HEARING WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECT; (iii) DESCRIBING
THE FORMS OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE BEING CONTEMPLATED BY
THE AGENCY WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECT; (iv) AUTHORIZING
THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A LAND DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT WITH EXCLUSIVE OPTION AND LICENSE (“LDA”) TO BE
ENTERED INTO WITH THE COMPANY; AND (v) AUTHORIZING THE
ISSUANCE OF A NOTICE OF DISPOSITION WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN
REAL ESTATE OWNED BY THE AGENCY.

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 369 of the Laws of 1971 of the State of New York, as
amended (hereinafter collectively called the “Act”), the JEFFERSON COUNTY
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (the “Agency”) was created with the authority
and power to own, lease and sell property for the purpose of, among other things, acquiring,
constructing and equipping civic, industrial, manufacturing and commercial facilities as
authorized by the Act; and

WHEREAS, CONVALT ENERGY, INC., for itself and/or on behalf of an entity or
entities to be formed (collectively, the “Company”), has submitted an application (the
“Application”) to the Agency requesting the Agency’s assistance with a certain project or
projects (collectively, the “Convalt Project”) consisting of: (i) the disposition by the Agency of
all or portions of approximately 88.51 acres of real property owned by the Agency and located in
the vicinity of State Route 12F in Town of Hounsfield, Jefferson County, New York, (ii) the
planning, design, construction, equipping and operation of (a) the phased development of up to
500,000 square foot manufacturing facility to accommodate solar panel manufacturing and solar
power plant generation, including building improvements for manufacturing, warehousing, office
space, and related internal spaces, external parking improvements, storm water management and
related site improvements, and related on and offsite utility improvements, and (b) one or more

Pace 1

.



photovoltaic solar energy arrays installed for testing and energy production and sale for on and
offsite usage, including panel foundations, inverters, transformers, interconnect wiring, utility
connections, sitework, landscaping, fencing, security and related improvements (collectively,
the “Convalt Improvements™), and (iii) the acquisition in and around the Improvements and of
certain items of equipment and other tangible personal property and equipment (the “Convalt
Equipment” and, collectively with the Land and the Improvements, the “Convalt Facility”), and
(iv) entering into a straight lease transaction (within the meaning of subdivision (15) of Section
854 of the Act), pursuant to which the Agency will retain one or more leasehold interests in the
Convalt Facility for a period of time and sublease such interest in the Facility back to the

Company; and

WHEREAS, as and for the first phase of the Convalt Project, the Company, by and
through affiliate Convalt Manufacturing, LLC, is requesting that the Agency consider
undertaking the first phase of a Project (the “Project”) consisting of: (i) the disposition by the
Agency of all or portions of approximately 88.51 acres of real property owned by the Agency
and located in the vicinity of State Route 12F in Town of Hounsfield, Jefferson County, New
York (the “Land”, being more particularly described as one or more tax parcels as may be
subdivided and/or merged, including TMID Nos 81.00-1-14.1 (29.93 acres), 81.00-1-13.1 (33.49
acres), 82.00-3-2.2 (8.45 acres), 81.00-3-2.3 (7.27 acres), and 82.00-3-5 (10.78 acres)), (ii) the
planning, design, construction, equipping and operation of an approximately 300,000 square foot
manufacturing facility to accommodate solar panel manufacturing and solar power plant
generation, including building improvements for manufacturing, warehousing, office space, and
related internal spaces, external parking improvements, storm water management and related site
improvements, and related on and offsite utility improvements (collectively, the
“Improvements”), and (iii) the acquisition in and around the Improvements and of certain items
of equipment and other tangible personal property and equipment (the “Equipment” and,
- collectively with the Land and the Improvements, the “Facility”), and (iv) entering into a straight
lease transaction (within the meaning of subdivision (15) of Section 854 of the Act), pursuant to
which the Agency will retain a leasehold interest in the Facility for a period of time and sublease
such interest in the Facility back to the Company (the “Straight Lease Transaction™); and

WHEREAS, the Agency is contemplating providing financial assistance to the Company
with respect to the Project (collectively, the “Financial Assistance”) in the form of: (A) an
exemption from all State and local sales and use taxes with respect to qualifying personal
property included in or incorporated into the Facility or used in the construction and equipping of
the Facility, (B) a mortgage recording tax exemption for financings undertaken to construct the
Facility, and (C) a partial real property tax abatement through a payment-in-lieu-of-tax
agreement (the “PILOT Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company would make payments in
lieu of real property taxes to the Agency for the benefit of each affected tax jurisdiction (the

“Affected Tax Jurisdictions™); and

WHEREAS, the Agency and Company have negotiated of terms for disposition of all or
portions of the Land to the Company (the “Disposition”) to be memorialized within a
contemplated Land Development Agreement with Exclusive Option and License (“LDA”) to be
entered into a furtherance of the Project; and

Page 2
99



WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Disposition, and in accordance with applicable
provisions of the Public Authorities Law (“PAL”), the Agency further contemplates the issuance
of a Notice of Disposition to required recipients pursuant to PAL Section 2897(6)(d) (the
“Disposition Notice”), such Disposition being exempted from publicly advertising for bids
pursuant to PAL Section 2897(6)(c)(v) and obtaining fair market value pursuant to PAL Section
2897(7)(ii); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the LDA, as set forth within Exhibit A, hereto, the
Agency and Company have proposed terms for (i) the Disposition of the Land to the Company in
furtherance of the Project, and (ii) the Company’s obligations with respect to undertaking the
Project, and (iii) the Agency’s obligation to undertake a certain Agency Infrastructure Project to
prepare the land for the Project, all of the foregoing being contemplated by the Agency and
Company to be necessary to undertake the Project, which will be undertaken by the Company as
agent of the Agency pursuant to and in accordance with the Act; and

WHEREAS, the Agency desires to (i) accept the Application, (ii) authorize the
scheduling and conduct of a public hearing pursuant to an in accordance with the Act, (iii)
authorize the execution of the LDA and issuance of the Disposition Notice, and (iv) authorize
related undertakings as set forth within the LDA; and

WHEREAS, once the Project secured local site plan and other regulatory approvals, it is
contemplated that the Agency will conduct the Public Hearing and negotiate, but not execute, an
Agent and Financial Assistance and Project Agreement (the “Agent Agreement”), a Lease
Agreement (the “Lease Agreement”), Leaseback Agreement (the “Leaseback Agreement”) and
PILOT Agreement pursuant to which the Agency would be willing to take or retain a leasehold
interest in the Land, the Improvements, the Equipment and personal property constituting the
Facility; and

WHEREAS, the Agency intends to describe the Project, accept the Application, describe
the forms of Financial Assistance contemplated by the Agency, secure any necessary consents
from the Affected Tax Jurisdictions, and authorize the scheduling and conduct of public
hearing(s) pursuant to and in accordance with the Act.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE JEFFERSON
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Based upon the representations made by the Company to the Agency in
the Application, the Agency hereby finds and determines that:

(A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and
convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all
powers granted to it under the Act; and

(B)  Itis desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to (i) dispose of interests in
the Land pursuant to the LDA and appoint the Company as agent to construct the Improvements
and acquire the Equipment constituting the Facility pursuant to the Agent Agreement and

Page 3
-8



Leaseback Agreement to be negotiated as components of one or more Straight Lease
Transactions; and

(C)  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth within Section 4, hereof, the Agency
has the authority to take the actions contemplated herein under the Act; and

(D)  The action to be taken by the Agency will induce the Company to undertake the
Project, thereby increasing capital investment and employment opportunities in the Town of
Hounsfield, and otherwise furthering the purposes of the Agency as set forth in the Act; and

(E)  The Project will not result in the removal of a facility or plant of the Company or
any other proposed occupant of the Project from one area of the State of New York (the “State™)
to another area of the State or result in the abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the
Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project located within the State; and the Agency
hereby finds that, based on the Company’s application, to the extent occupants are relocating
from one plant or facility to another, the Project is reasonably necessary to discourage the Project
occupants from removing such other plant or facility to a location outside the State and/or is
reasonably necessary to preserve the competitive position of the Project occupants in their
respective industries.

Section 2. The proposed financial assistance being contemplated by the Agency
includes (i) an exemption from all state and local sales and use taxes with respect to the
qualifying personal property included within the Project or used in the acquisition, construction
or equipping of the Project, (ii) a mortgage recording tax exemption for financings undertaken to
construct the Facility, and (iii) a partial real property tax abatement through a payment-in-lieu-
of-tax agreement (the “PILOT Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company would make
payments in lieu of real property taxes to the Agency for the benefit of the Affected Tax

Jurisdictions.

Section 3. The Agency further authorizes the scheduling and conduct of a public
hearing as required by Section 859-a of the Act (the “Public Hearing”). Prior to such Public
Hearing, the Chairman, Vice Chairman and/or Chief Executive Officer of the Agency are hereby
authorized and directed to negotiate the terms of one or more PILOT Agreements for the Project.
in accordance with the Agency’s Uniform Tax Exemption Policy (“UTEP”).

Section 4. The Agency’s formal inducement to undertake the Project and approve the
Financial Assistance shall be by one or more further resolutions of the Agency and shall be
subject to the terms and conditions as are set forth therein.

Section 5. The Agency hereby authorizes the undertaking of the Disposition of the
Land to the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth within the LDA,
along with the terms of the Option, as further defined therein. The Chairman (or Vice Chairman)
and/or Executive Director of the Agency are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to
execute and deliver the LDA in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, with such
changes, variations, omissions and insertions as authorized by the Chairman, Vice Chairman
and/or Executive Director of the Agency, the execution thereof by the Chairman, Vice Chairman

Paoe 4
i B



and/or Executive Director of the Agency to constitute conclusive evidence of such approval.
The Agency hereby further authorizes the issuance of the Disposition Notice in such form as
approved by the Chief Executive Officer and Transaction Counsel to the Agency.

Section 6. Harris Beach PLLC, as General and Transaction Counsel for the Agency,
is hereby authorized to work with counsel to the Company and others to prepare for submission
to the Agency all documents necessary to effect the conduct of the Public Hearing issuance of
the Disposition Notice.

Section 7. The Chairman, Vice Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the
Agency are hereby authorized and directed to negotiate, but not execute, certain lease
agreements, an Agent and Financial Assistance and Project Agreement (the “Agent
Agreement”), the PILOT Agreement(s), and related documents to undertake the Straight Lease
Transaction. The Agency’s authorization of the Project and the Financial Assistance shall be
subject to the adoption of Agency resolutions relative to same.

Section 8. The Chairman, Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Agency
are hereby authorized and directed to distribute copies of this Resolution to the Company and to
do such further things or perform such acts as may be necessary or convenient to implement the
provisions of this Resolution. '

Section 9. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized
and directed for an in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required
and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees,
charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the
opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of
the foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants
and provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency.

Section 10.  These Resolutions shall take effect immediately.

The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on roll
call, which resulted as follows:

Yea Nay Absent - Abstain

David J. Converse
John Jennings

Robert E. Aliasso, Jr.
W. Edward Walldroff
William W. Johnson
Lisa L’Huillier

Paul J. Warneck

e e ——
el i
e et e e e b
1 e e —
S S S S
e ——
el e e e
I e e e e —
Ll I S iy BRSNS S

The Resolution Was thereupon duly adopted.



STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) SS:

I, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer of Jefferson County Industrial Development
Agency, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:

That I have compared the annexed extract of minutes of the meeting of Jefferson County
Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”), including the resolution contained therein, held
on July 9, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a true and
correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolution set forth therein and of the
whole of said original insofar as the same related to the subject matters therein referred to.

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting,
that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public
notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Article 7.

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present
throughout said meeting.

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force
and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified.

IN WIH\IESS WHEREQF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Agency this/3™ day of o pfrﬂ, , 2021. '

David J._Zembiec, CEO

[SEAL]

Pare A

5.



EXHIBIT A
FORM OF LDA




EXECUTION COrY

LAND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH LICENSE
AND EXCLUSIVE OPTION

THIS LAND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH LICENSE AND
EXCLUSIVE OPTION (hereinafter, the “Agreement”), dated as of the [ ] day of
[ |, 2021, by and between the JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, a public benefit corporation duly existing under the laws
of the State of New York (the “State”) with offices at 800 Starbuck Avenue, Suite 800,
Watertown, New York 13601 (the “Agency”) and CONVALT ENERGY, INC., a
limited liability company duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of
Delaware with offices at 800 Starbuck Avenue, Suite A-15, Watertown, New York
103601 (the “Company™),

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Agency was created by Chapter 1030 of the Laws of 1969 of the
State of New York pursuant to Title I of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law
(“GML”) of the State of New York (collectively, the “Act”) as a body corporate and
politic and as a public benefit corporation of the State of New York; and

WHEREAS, CONVALT ENERGY, INC., for itself and/or on behalf of an
entity or entities to be formed (collectively, the “Company”), has submitted an
application (the “Application™) to the Agency requesting the Agency's assistance with a
certain project or projects (collectively, the “Convalt Project”) consisting of: (i) the
disposition by the Agency of all or portions of approximately 88.51 acres of real property
owned by the Agency and located in the vicinity of State Route 12F in Town of
Hounsfield, Jefferson County, New York, (ii) the planning, design, construction,
equipping and operation of (a) the phased development of up to 500,000 square foot
manufacturing facility to accommodate solar panel manufacturing and solar power plant
generation, including building improvements for manufacturing, warehousing, office
space, and related internal spaces, external parking improvements, storm water
management and related site improvements, and related on and offsite utility
improvements, and (b) one or more photovoltaic solar energy arrays installed for testing
and energy production and sale for on and offsite usage, including panel foundations,
inverters, transformers, interconnect wiring, utility connections, sitework, landscaping,
fencing, security and related improvements (collectively, the “Convalt Improvements”),
and (i) the acquisition in and around the Improvements and of certain items of
equipment and other tangible personal property and equipment (the “Convalt Equipment”
and, collectively with the Land and the Improvements, the “Convalt Facility™), and (iv)
entering into a straight lease transaction (within the meaning of subdivision (15) of
Section 854 of the Act), pursuant to which the Agency will retain one or more leasehold

9B



interests in the Convalt Facility for a period of time and sublease such interest in the
Facility back to the Company; and

WHEREAS, as and for the first phase of the Convalt Project, the Company, by
and through affiliate Convalt Manufacturing, LLC, is requesting that the Agency
consider undertaking the first phase of a Project (the “Project”) consisting of: (i) the
disposition by the Agency of all or portions of approximately 88 acres of real property
owned by the Agency and located in the vicinity of State Route 12F in Town of
Hounsfield, Jefferson County, New York (the “Land”, being more particularly described
as one or more tax parcels as may be subdivided and/or merged, including TMID Nos
81.00-1-14.1 (29.93 acres), 81.00-1-13.1 (33.49 acres), 82.00-3-2.2 (8.45 acres), 81.00-3-
2.3 (7.27 acres), and 82.00-3-5 (10.78 acres)), (ii) the planning, design, construction,
equipping and operation of an approximately 300,000 square foot manufacturing facility
to accommodate solar panel manufacturing and solar power plant generation, including
building improvements for manufacturing, warehousing, office space, and related internal
spaces, external parking improvements, storm water management and related site
improvements, and related on and offsite utility improvements (collectively, the
“Improvements™), and (iii) the acquisition in and around the Improvements and of certain
items of equipment and other tangible personal property and equipment (the “Equipment”
and, collectively with the Land and the Improvements, the “Facility”), and (iv) entering
into a straight lease transaction (within the meaning of subdivision (15) of Section 854 of
the Act), pursuant to which the Agency will retain a leasehold interest in the Facility for a
period of time and sublease such interest in the Facility back to the Company (the

“Straight Lease Transaction™); and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Project, the Agency and Company have
negotiated terms for disposition of either a fee or leasehold interest in the Land to the

Company (the “Disposition”) to be memorialized herein; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Disposition, and in accordance with applicable
provisions of the Public Authorities Law (“PAL”), the Agency is required to issue a
Notice of Disposition to required recipients pursuant to PAL Section 2897(6)(d), dated
(the “Disposition Notice”), whereby the Agency may undertake the Disposition on or
after 90 days following the issuance of said Disposition Notice, with such Disposition
being exempted from publicly advertising for bids pursuant to PAL Section 2897(6)(c)(v)
and obtaining fair market value pursuant to PAL Section 2897(7)(ii); and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Project and in consideration for the Company’s
willingness to undertake the Project, the Agency will undertake or cause to be undertaken
a certain Agency Infrastructure Project (as more particularly defined herein) to provide
certain infrastructure improvements to serve the Facility; and

WHEREAS, the Agency and the Company wish to enter in to this Agreement to

provide the Company with preliminary Project development access rights to the Land and
an exclusive option to acquire the Land from the Agency in furtherance of the Project.

-29-



NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the promises and the mutual
covenants hereinafter contained, and other good and valuable consideration the receipt
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto formally covenant,
agree and bind themselves as follows:

ARTICLE ]
REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS

Section 1.1.  Representations and Covenants of the Agency.

The Agency makes the following representations and covenants as the basis for
the undertakings on its part herein contained:

(a) The Agency is a duly established and existing public benefit corporation
pursuant to the Act, as amended, and Chapter 1030 of the Laws of 1969 of the State,
pursuant to which the Agency has the power to enter into the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. Upon completion of the
procedural requirements mandated upon the Agency by the Act, the Agency will have the
authority to take the actions contemplated herein under the Act.

(b) The Agency has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this
Agreement.

(c)  Pursuant to the terms hereof, it is contemplated that the Agency will
transfer to the Company title to or a leasehold interest in the Land and Project and the
Agency contemplates that it will designate the Company as its agent for the purposes of
acquiring, constructing, equipping, operating, repairing and maintaining the Project, all
for the purpose of promoting the industry, health, welfare, convenience and prosperity of
the inhabitants of the State and the County of Jefferson, New York, and improving their
standard of living.

(d)  Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the
provisions of this Agreement will conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of the Act or of any corporate restriction or any agreement or
instrument to which the Agency is a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute
default under any of the foregoing, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien of
any nature upon any of the property of the Agency under the terms of any such
instrument or agreement.

(e) The Agency has been induced to enter into this Agreement by the
undertaking of the Company to acquire, construct, equip, operate, repair and maintain the
Project and to create and retain related jobs in Jefferson County, New York.

(H To the best of the Agency’s knowledge, the activities undertaken by or at
the direction of the Agency prior to the date hereof to construct roadway, water and sewer

-30-



improvements on and adjacent to the Land, as they exist as of the date of this Agreement
(collectively, the “Existing Improvements”), have been performed in a manner that
complies with all applicable laws and tegulations (herein, “Applicable Law”), including
specifications of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over such improvements.
Upon request, the Agency shall provide the Company with copies of all drawings,
engineering reports, construction contracts and other construction documentation relating
to the Existing Improvements. '

(g)  The activities of the Agency required by this Agreement or otherwise
conducted by the Agency, including, but not limited to the Agency Infrastructure Project,
as defined herein, will conform with Applicable Law of governmental authorities having
jurisdiction over the Agency Infrastructure Project, and for as long as the Agency shall
remain in title to and/or retain jurisdiction or control over all or portions of the Agency
Infrastructure Project, the Agency shall defend, indemnify and hold the Company
harmless from any liability or expenses resulting from any failure by the Agency to
comply with the provisions of this subsection (g), excluding any such failure that is due
to any act or omission of the Company to comply with Applicable Law.

(h)  There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in
equity, before or by any court, public board or body pending or, to the knowledge of the
Agency, threatened against or affecting the Agency, to which the Agency is a party, and
in which an adverse result would in any way diminish or adversely impact on the
Agency’s ability to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.

(1) No entity or person other than Company (pursuant to the terms hereof) has
any right to acquire all or any portion of the Land.

()  The Agency has no property condition report or other reports and
documents related to the condition of the Land except those set forth on Exhibit A,
complete copies of which have been provided to the Company.

(k)  The Agency is the sole fee owner of the Land and shall at Closing (as
defined herein) deliver good and marketable title to the Land, free and clear of all liens,
encumbrances, mortgages, bills of sale, contracts of sale, historical or landmark
restrictions, leases (oral or written, except as provided herein), special agreements of any
kind or nature whatsoever, or any liens of any nature other than Permitted Exceptions

(defined below).

Section 1.2.  Representations and Covenants of the Company.

The Company makes the following representations and covenants as the basis for
the undertakings on its part herein contained:

(@)  The Company is a limited liability company duly formed and validly
existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and authorized to conduct business in the

o i B



State of New York, has the authority to enter into this Agreement and has duly authorized
the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the
provisions of this Agreement will conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of any restriction or any agreement or instrument to which the
Company is a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute a default under any of the
foregoing, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien of any nature upon any of the
property of the Company under the terms of any such instrument or agreement.

(c) The Project will not result in the removal of a civic, commercial,
industrial, or manufacturing plant of the Company or any other proposed occupant of the
Project from one area of the State to another area of the State or result in the
abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the Company or any other proposed
occupant of the Project located within the State; and the Agency hereby finds that, based
on the Company’s Application, to the extent occupants are relocating from one plant or
facility to another, the Project is reasonably necessary to discourage the Project occupants
from removing such other plant or facility to a location outside the State and/or is
reasonably necessary to preserve the competitive position of the Project occupants in
their respective industries.

(d)  The Project-related activities of the Company will conform with all
Applicable Law, and the Company shall defend, indemnify and hold the Agency
harmless from any liability or expenses resulting from any failure by the Company to
comply with the provisions of this subsection (d), excluding any failure that is due to an
act or omission of the Agency to comply with Applicable Law.

(e)  There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in
equity, before or by any court, public board or body pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against or affecting the Company, to which the Company is a party,
and in which an adverse result would in any way diminish or adversely impact on the
Company’s ability to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.

ARTICLEII
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS, OPTION AND CONSIDERATION

Section 2.1. Development Rights.  Subject and pursuant to the terms,
conditions and contingencies contained within this Agreement, the Agency hereby grants
to the Company the exclusive right to undertake the Project on the Land. During the term
of this Agreement, the Agency shall not engage in discussions with any other developers
or solicit proposals relating to the Land. The exclusive development rights provided
herein shall be granted for a period of one (1) year from the date hereof (the
“Development Term”™). In the event that a Closing Date, as defined within Section 2.2,
below, is not scheduled and a Closing, as defined below, is not conducted within the

=B



Development Term, as may be extended pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the
Company’s rights and obligations hereunder, with the exception of the obligations
contained within Section 8.11 hereof, shall lapse and become null and void. It is
expressly agreed by the parties hereto that the Agency and the Company shall work
cooperatively to assure that the Company may expediently initiate, undertake, and
complete the Project. The Company shall have the right to request two (2) six (6) month
extensions to the Development Term (such individual, successive six (6) month periods
hereinafter, the “Extension Terms”). Any such request for extensions (an “Extension
Request”) by the Company shall be submitted to the Agency in writing at least sixty (60)
days prior to the end of the Development Term, as may be extended. In no event may the
Development Term be extended to comprise a period of greater than two (2) years, unless
the Development Term is further extended by resolution adopted by the Agency, or (i)
the Agency fails to timely undertake the substantial completion of the Agency
Infrastructure Project (as defined herein); (ii) the Agency fails to satisfy any Agency
Express Contingency (as defined herein), or (iii) there remain unsatisfied any Other
Express Contingencies (as defined herein), each the basis for an “Automatic Extension”.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company shall not be
required to timely submit an Extension Request and the Development Term shall
automatically be extended for up to two (2) six (6) month periods if any of the foregoing
bases for an Automatic Extension are satisfied in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, Upon the Company’s request, the Agency shall execute a written
confirmation of the date upon which the Extension Term shall expire. The Agency may
approve or disapprove a request for one or more Extension Terms in its sole and absolute
discretion, such approval of the Agency shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned,
or delayed. It is expressly agreed by the parties hereto that any such request may
reasonably be denied by the Agency (other than an Automatic Extension) where there
remain any unsatisfied Company Express Contingencies, as defined herein, where any
such unsatisfied Company Express Contingency results from the action or failure to act
on the part of the Company. In the event that (i) an Automatic Extension is allowable at
the end of the Two (2) year Development Term, or (ii) all Express Contingencies have
been satisfied, but a Closing Date has not been agreed upon by the parties as of the
second anniversary hereof, the Development Term shall be extended by mutual
agreement of the parties hereto for a period of up to an additional Six (6) months to allow
for satisfaction of remaining Express Contingencies and/or establishment of a Closing

Date. .

Section 2.2,  Exclusive Option to Acquire the Land. Subject and pursuant to
the terms, conditions and contingencies contained within this Agreement, the Agency
hereby grants to the Company the exclusive option to acquire fee title (or a leasehold
interest) to the Land for purposes of undertaking the Project (collectively, the “Option”).
The Land is comprised of approximately 88 acres, as depicted within Exhibit B, hereto.
To the extent that the Agency Infrastructure Project (as defined herein) is not completed
at the time of the Company’s exercise of the Option, and/or roadway portions of the
Agency Infrastructure Project are not yet dedicated as a public right-of-way at the time of
the Company’s exercise of the Option, the Option to acquire the Land shall include
easement(s) in favor of the Company to allow unrestricted access to the Land for

-



construction and/or operation of the Facility, such easements to be approved as to form
by the Company. Said Option is hereby granted by the Agency to the Company in
exchange for the $1.00 deposit, as further described herein and paid by the Company
contemporaneously herewith, and for the Company’s willingness to undertake the
Project, which shall promote the industry, health, welfare, convenience and prosperity of
the inhabitants of the State and the County of Jefferson, New York, and improve their
standard of living. The Company may exercise the Option subject to the terms and
conditions set forth herein and only during the Development Term, as defined herein, and
whereupon, the Agency and the Company shall consummate the transactions
contemplated herein on the Closing Date, as defined herein. In the event that a Closing is
not conducted within the Development Term, the Option shall lapse and become null and

void.

Section 2.3.  Consideration. In exchange for the exclusive development rights,
Option and title to the Land, as contemplated herein, the Company shall pay to the
Agency the sum of ONE DOLLAR $1.00 upon execution of this Agreement, such
payment to be a non-refundable deposit (the “Deposit”) in exchange for the Development
Rights and Option granted herein. On the Closing date, the Company shall pay the
Agency the sum of ONE DOLLAR ($1.00) as consideration for fee title to the Land (the
“Purchase Price”).

Section 2.4 Closing Date; Contemplated Transactions. (a) Closing Date. The

consummation of the within described transactions shall be hereinafter referred to as the
“Closing”. The date of the Closing (hereinafter, the “Closing Date™), shall be mutually
established by the Agency and the Company during the Development Term pursuant to
the terms, conditions and contingencies contained within this Agreement, but in no event
later than Sixty (60) days following satisfaction of the Express Contingencies, as defined

herein.

(b) Contemplated Transactions. In furtherance of the Project and on the
Closing Date, the Agency and the Company contemplate entering into agreement(s) that
would allow the Agency to retain a fee or leasehold interest in the Land, with the
Company and Agency entering into one or more lease agreements (the “Lease
Agreement”), all for purposes of providing financial assistance to the Company in the
form of (i) sales and use tax exemptions in connection with the construction of the
Project, (ii) mortgage recording tax exemption(s) in connection with one or more
financings undertaken by the Company in furtherance of the Project, and (iii) a partial
real property tax exemption relating to the Improvements to be contained within a
Payment-in-Lieu-of-Taxes Agreement (“PILOT Agreement”, the general terms of which
are outlined herein, and collectively with the above-described financial assistance, the
“Agency Financial Assistance™). For these purposes, it is contemplated that the Agency
shall either (i) transfer fee title to the Land to the Company with an immediate Lease and
Leaseback Agreement executed for purposes of delivering the Agency Financial
Assistance, or (ii) retain fee title to the Land and lease the Land and Facility, once
constructed by the Company, to the Company in furtherance of the Project and delivery

of the Agency Financial Assistance.

-34-



Section 2.5. Agency Fees. The Company, prior to or commensurate with
execution and delivery of this Agreement, shall pay all outstanding consulting and legal
costs incurred by the Agency in connection with the Project, up to a maximum amount of
] |. The Agency and its assigns shall be responsible for payment of all costs
and expenses associated with the Agency Infrastructure Project. On the Closing Date, the
Company shall pay to the Agency (i) the amount of $325,000.00 as an administrative fee
in connection with the Agency’s provision of the Agency Financial Assistance in
furtherance of the Project; (ii) all outstanding consulting and legal costs incurred by the
Agency in connection with the Project; and (iii) all other fees and costs of the Agency
incidental to undertaking the Project (other than costs incurred in connection with
enforcement of and/or amendment to this Agreement), including payment of any and all
applicable bond issuance fees and charges assessed pursuant to PAL Section 2976, or

otherwise.

ARTICLE III
LICENSE PROVISIONS

Section 3.1. Grant of License. (a) Subject and pursuant to the terms,
conditions and contingencies contained within this Agreement, the Agency hereby grants
to the Company an exclusive, revocable license (the “License™) to enter the Land for the
exclusive purposes of surveying, studying, testing, drilling, boring and otherwise
analyzing the Land in connection with the planning, design and engineering of the
Project, as defined herein. The License Rights shall further include the right of the
Company to store certain solar panel manufacturing and warehousing tools, equipment,
and materials on the Land as set forth herein (herein, the “Storage Rights”).

The Company shall provide the Agency with copies of all engineering reports and test
results associated with the Land and Project received by the Company during the term
hereof, including, but not limited to geotechnical boring results and other reports and test
results relating to the Land site conditions. The License shall be co-terminus with the
Development Term, as defined herein, unless otherwise revoked by the Agency. The
Agency, as Licensor, may revoke this license at any time if the Company, as Licensee, is
in breach of any term or provision hereof and such breach has not been cured within
Sixty (60) days of written notice of such breach has been given to the Company by the

Agency.

(b) License Indemnities and Events of Default. The Company, as Licensee,
does hereby protect, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Agency, as Licensor,
against any and all claims, costs, judgments, liens, or actions, including reasonable
attorney’s fees and costs of defense, for damage to property or injury to persons suffered
on, or resulting or arising from the Company’s activities on the Land, including any
activities, actions, malfeasance or omissions of the Company or any officer, employee,
director, agent or contractor of the Company. The provisions of this paragraph shall
survive termination of this agreement. The Company further hereby protect, defend,
indemnify and hold harmless the Agency, as Licensor, against any and all claims, costs,

-35-



Judgments, liens, or actions, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of defense, for
claims, judgments, actions and any related liens associated with the Company’s business
activities as same may affect the Agency or title to the Land, including, but not limited to
any action or dispute that may give rise to a lien against the Land. If at any point during
the Development Term an action or proceeding (whether coupled with a lien filing or not)
is threatened or initiated by a third party against the Agency or the Agency’s title to the
Land as a direct result of the Company’s business activities relative to the Project, the
Company shall be deemed in default of this Agreement unless bonded off, released of
record or otherwise remedied to the Agency’s satisfaction within Sixty (60) business days
of written demand to cure tendered by the Agency. The Company’s failure to cure such a
default (whether through payment, settlement, performance or payment bond, or
otherwise) within said Sixty (60) day period shall have the effect of terminating this
Agreement, including all development rights, the Option and any other rights of the
Company contained herein or otherwise. In all events, the Company’s indemnification of
the Agency and obligation to pay all Agency costs associated with the Project pursuant to
Section 2.5 hereof shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

(¢)  License Insurance Requirements:

At all times throughout the term of this Agreement, the Company, as Licensee,
shall maintain the following insurance:

(i) Worker’s compensation insurance, disability benefits insurance, and each
other form of insurance which the parties hereto are required by law to provide, covering
loss resulting from injury, sickness, disability or death of employees of the Licensee
working on the Project.

(1)  Insurance against loss or losses from liabilities imposed by law or
assumed in any written contract and arising from personal injury and death or damage to
the property of others caused by any accident or occurrence, with limits of not less than
$1,000,000 per accident or occurrence on account of personal injury, including death
resulting therefrom, and $1,000,000 per accident or occurrence on account 6f damage to
the property of others, excluding liability imposed upon the Licensor by any applicable
workmen's compensation law; and a blanket excess liability policy in the amount not less
than $5,000,000, protecting the Agency, as Licensor, against any loss or liability or
damage for personal injury or property damage.

All insurance required by this Agreement shall name the Agency, as Licensor, as
an additional insured. All such insurance shall be procured and maintained in financially
sound and generally recognized responsible insurance companies selected by the
Licensee and authorized to write such insurance in the State. Such insurance may be
written with deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other
companies engaged in businesses similar in size, character and other respects to those in
which the Company, as Licensee, is engaged. All policies evidencing such insurance
shall provide for (i) payment of the losses of the Licensee and the Agency as their
respective interests may appear, and (ii) if possible, at least thirty (30) days written notice

-36-



of the cancellation thereof to the Licensee and the Agency, as Licensor. All such
certificates of insurance of the insurers that such insurance is in force and effect, shall be
deposited with the Agency on or before the first occasion on which Licensee is to enter
on the Land for the purposes described in this Agreement. Prior to expiration of the
policy evidenced by said certificates, the Licensee shall furnish the Agency evidence that
the policy has been renewed or replaced or is no longer required by this Agreement.

(d)  Storage Rights. During the term of the License granted herein, the
Company shall have the right to store certain solar panel manufacturing and warehousing
tools, equipment, and materials on the Land for the exclusive purposes of equipping the
Project. At least Sixty (60) days prior to exercising any Storage Rights, the Company
shall provide the Agency with a proposed equipment storage plan (the “Storage Plan”),
which shall propose the location for storage, the Company’s proposed site preparation
(including any grading, fencing, and security), confirmation of legal authority to utilize
the Storage Rights, and the provision of additional bonding and/or insurance to be
provided for the benefit of the Agency in the event that the License is terminated and the
Agency is required to take custody of the stored equipment and materials. The Storage
Plan shall be subject to the Agency’s review and approval, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, but in all events the Company shall be responsible for
all costs associated with the Storage Rights and shall indemnify the Agency for any and
all losses and liabilities in connection with same.

ARTICLE IV
CONTEMPLATED PILOT PROVISIONS

Section 4.1. Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement. (a) On the Closing Date, and
subject to the Agency’s adoption of a project authorizing resolution; the Agency’s
conduct of a public hearing in accordance with the Act and Code, the Agency’s
distribution of any required deviation notices, and the Agency’s approval following any
required deviation procedures and notice period(s), the Company and the Agency
contemplated entering into a PILOT Agreement which deviates from the Agency’s
Uniform Tax Exemption Policy (“UTEP”), collectively the foregoing being referred to as
the (the “Deviation”). The PILOT Agreement shall be co-terminus with the Lease and
require annual PILOT payments (the “PILOT Payments”) to be made by the Company to
the Agency for the benefit of the Jefferson County (the “County”), the Town of
Hounsfield (the “Town”) and the General Brown Central School District (the “School”,
and collectively with the County and Town, the “Affected Taxing Jurisdictions™). The
PILOT Agreement will extend for a term of at least Twenty (20) years from the Closing
Date. The Agency and the Company shall negotiate the terms of the PILOT Agreement
prior to the Agency’s scheduling and conduct of a public hearing and distribution of
deviation notices in accordance with the Act. The Agency and Company acknowledge
and agree that pursuant to the UTEP, the undertaking of the Deviation shall require the
affirmative approval of each of the Affected Taxing Jurisdictions (the “Deviation
Approvals™), which are required to be secured prior to the Agency’s conduct of a public
hearing in accordance with the Act.

10
i



(b) The above-described PILOT Agreement shall require PILOT Payments to
be made by the Company to the Agency within each PILOT year. If deemed appropriate,
the Agency may elect to secure a commercially reasonable form of PILOT mortgage
against the Land and Facility (the “PILOT Mortgage”) to secure PILOT Payments, such
PILOT Mortgage to be secured as a priority of payment and/or lien over any mortgages
or credit facilities secured by the Company in connection with the Project, The parties
hereto agree that any PILOT Mortgage so recorded shall be exempt from applicable
mortgage recording taxes.

ARTICLE V
CONTINGENCIES PRIOR TO PERFORMANCE

Section 5.1.  Express Contingencies.

With the exception of undertaking pre-closing activities (as further defined
herein), the parties hereto shall not be obligated to perform or carry out any of the
proposed undertakings for the Project, as detailed within Article VI, below, until the
following express contingencies (“Express Contingencies™) are satisfied:

(a) Agency Express Contingencies:
(1) Required Agency Procedures. The Agency shall have received and

reviewed an amended Application for Financial Assistance from the Company, by and
through affiliate Convalt Manufacturing, LLC, and relating to the Project. Upon
receipt and review of same, subject to the Company providing the Agency with
supplemental information and reports as needed by the Agency, and prior to the adoption
of a project authorizing resolution, the Agency shall undertake all procedures required
pursuant to the Act and UTEP, including, but not limited to, securing the Deviation
Approvals and the notice and conduct of a public hearing following the distribution of
deviation notices, as necessary (collectively, “Agency Procedures™).

(i)  Agency Infrastructure Project. As outlined below, the Agency shall

undertake actions to plan, design, permit and construct, or cause to be constructed, certain
infrastructure improvements to support the Land sufficient to provide certain roadway
and electric service sufficient to permanently serve the Facility for its intended purpose
(collectively, the “Agency Infrastructure Project”). Such Agency Infrastructure Project
shall be undertaken at the Agency’s exclusive expense and/or at the expense of the
Agency’s assigns (which may include any third party funding) and include the
improvements and elements as set forth within Exhibit C, hereto. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Agency Infrastructure Project shall include (i) the completion of sub-base and
base roadway improvements with the coordination and involvement of the County, with
approvals secured from the County to accept said roadway as a public thoroughfare; and
(i) the initiation of the planning, design, engineering and installation of the electrical
interconnect project with Grid (as defined herein), with the Agency’s role and
responsibilities limited to the payment to Grid of required deposits up to a maximum
amount of $50,000.00 to initiate design for the electrical interconnection, with all

11
_38-



contracts and agreements with Grid entered into by the Agency assigned to the Company.
The Agency shall construct or cause to be constructed the Agency Infrastructure Project
in accordance with Applicable Law and at its exclusive cost and expense, shall secure all
approval(s), in non-appealable form, from any governmental authorities having
jurisdiction (each a “Governmental Approval”) over the Agency Infrastructure Project.
The Agency previously caused the Agency Infrastructure Project to be reviewed pursuant
to the State Environmental Quality Review Act (“SEQRA”) by the Town of Hounsfield
Planning Board (the "Planning Board") and a finding of no significant impact was issued
by the Planning Board. The Agency Infrastructure Project shall be commenced by the
Agency and/or its assigns on or before October 1, 2021 and substantially completed on or
before June 1, 2022 and in all events fully completed prior to the end of the Development
Term. For purposes of this section, the term “substantially completed” shall mean
completion of all elements of the Agency Infrastructure Project, except final top coat of
paving of roadways. The Company may elect to exercise the Option prior to the Agency
achieving substantial completion of the Agency Infrastructure Project, subject only to the
Agency and Company entering into a written work plan to coordinate contractor activities
for each of the Agency Infrastructure Project and Project. The Agency, in its sole
discretion and at any time during the Development Term or thereafter, may dedicate all
or portions of the Agency Infrastructure Project to the Town, County, and/or National
Grid (“Grid™), as applicable. To the extent necessary and convenient, the Agency shall
grant the Town, County, and/or Grid with licenses, easements, deeds and/or rights-of-
way to dedicate all or portions of the Agency Infrastructure Project, such easements,
deeds and rights-of-way to be subject to the rights of the Company granted herein. The
Company and Agency shall work cooperatively to secure approvals to dedicate roadways
and other access points to establish access to the Land. In furtherance of same, and to the
extent necessary, the Agency and/or its assigns shall grant to the Company and/or its
assigns a supplemental license from the Agency (in substantially the form contained
herein) to undertake same and the Company shall then be exclusively responsible for
securing approvals necessary to dedicate such portions of the Agency Infrastructure
Project to the Town, County and/or Grid, as applicable (the “Dedication Approvals”).
Upon fifteen (15) days’ notice by the Company to the Agency that it has secured
Dedication Approvals from the Town, County and/or Grid, as applicable, the Agency
shall tender the required deed(s), bill(s) of sale and any other transfer instruments
necessary to effectuate same. The Agency shall require all contractors and agents
working on behalf of the Agency for elements of the Agency Infrastructure Project to
carry insurance with limits as set forth within Section 3.1(c) hereof, with the Agency and

Company listed as additional named insureds.

(ili)  Agency Authorizing Resolutions. Subject to the Agency’s conduct of the
Agency Procedures, the Agency shall have adopted any required resolutions necessary to
undertake the Project and Agency Infrastructure Project, including Inducement and
Closing Resolutions relating to the Project. The Agency’s final Closing Resolution shall
be considered for adoption after the Company’s satisfaction of all applicable Company
Express Contingencies, as defined herein.

12
-39-



(iv)  Agency Re-subdivision of the Land. The Agency shall work

cooperatively with the Company to merge the tax parcels that shall be included as
components of the Land in furtherance of the Company’s application for Site Plan
approval, which will merge and consolidate the existing individual lots comprising the
Land into a single lot to be transferred to the Company and incorporated into the Project,
as well as to terminate any existing easements between the individual lots as deemed
necessary by the Company (the “Re-subdivision™).

(b)  Company Express Contingencies:
(i) Project Design, Site Plan Approval and SEQRA. The Company, at its

exclusive cost and expense, shall have completed all engineering and design activities
necessary to construct the Project. The Company shall further secure all necessary
Governmental Approvals relating to the Project, including any zoning and site plan
approval(s) necessary to undertake the Project from the Town and/or Planning Board,
subject only to those conditions that are satisfactory to the Company in the Company’s
sole and absolute discretion. Further, the Company shall cause the Project to be reviewed
pursuant to SEQRA by an appropriate lead agency, with such SEQRA review and related
classification and findings to be completed prior to the Agency’s adoption of an
Inducement resolution relating to the Project.

(ii) Financing Commitments. The Company shall secure firm financing
commitment(s) in form and substance customary for transactions of the type
contemplated by this Agreement at interest rates and on other terms acceptable to the
- Company in its sole discretion providing for the provision of funds sufficient to fund all
costs associated with the Project (collectively, the “Financing Commitments”). Evidence
of satisfaction of the Financing Commitments shall include demonstration that the
Company may proceed to close with lenders within sixty (60) days.

(iii)  The Company shall have secured an irrevocable Title Commitment (as
defined below) for a Title Policy relating to the acquisition of an interest in the Land
sufficient to undertake the Project.

(c) Other Express Contingencies:

(i) Electric Interconnect. The Company shall enter into an agreement with
Grid regarding the costs and financing of the upgrade and extension of electrical service
interconnect infrastructure as is necessary and/or required by Grid to provide electric
supply to the Project (collectively, the “Electric Interconnect”), in final form and in
compliance with Applicable Law, the terms and conditions of which shall be satisfactory
to the Company in the Company’s sole and absolute discretion. The Company and/or
Grid may apply to the Agency for additional Agency financial assistance to facilitate the
construction of the Electric Interconnect. The Agency shall provide Grid with such
easements and rights of way over Agency-owned realty necessary to install and operate
the Electric Interconnect.

13
-40-



ARTICLE VI
PROPOSED UNDERTAKINGS FOR PROJECT; COMPANY INDEMNITIES

Section 6.1.  Proposed Undertakings by the Agency.

(a) Pre-closing Activities. The Agency shall use best efforts to eliminate the
Agency Express Contingencies and Other Express Contingencies as set forth in Section
5.1 above. The Agency’s best efforts shall be used to carry out the Agency Procedures
and to assist the Company, where appropriate, in securing any Governmental Approvals
relating to the Project. Furthermore, the Agency shall use best efforts to secure
Governmental Approvals for the Agency Infrastructure Project, and thereafter commence
and substantially complete same in accordance with Section 5.1(a)(ii) hereof.

(b)  Closing and post-closing activities. Upon satisfaction of the Express
Contmgencxes and Other Express Contingencies as set forth within Section 5.1 above, it
is contemplated that the Company will exercise the Option in accordance herewith and
the Agency will transfer or lease the Land to the Company for purposes of allowing the
Company to undertake the Project as agent of the Agency. In connection with the
Closing, it is contemplated that the Agency will provide the Agency Financial Assistance
in accordance with Act and Code to the Company.

Section 6.2.  Proposed Undertakings by the Company.

(@  Undertaking of Project. The Company shall promptly undertake the
Project on the Closing Date. The costs incurred by the Company in furtherance of
undertaking the Project shall be 100% borne by the Company. The Company shall use
best efforts in undertaking all aspects of the Project.

(b)  Pre-closing activities. The Company shall use best efforts to eliminate the
Company Express Contingencies set forth within Section 5.1, above. The Company’s
best efforts shall be used to prepare for prompt commencement of construction on the
Closing Date, including: (i) to finalize all necessary plans and specifications for the
Project, including finalized budget figures, which shall be provided to the Agency; (ii) to
secure any and all necessary Governmental Approvals for the Project; (iii) to finalize and
execute all necessary contracts for the construction of the Project (copies of which shall
be provided to the Agency); (iv) to secure the Financing Commitments; and (v) such
other business activities of the Company necessary to undertake the Project. Any and all
contracts entered into by the Company for the construction of the Project containing any
form of performance guarantee shall also list the Agency and its assigns as additional

indemnified parties.

(¢)  Closing and post-closing activities. Upon satisfaction of the Express
Contingencies set forth within Section 5.1, above, the Company may exercise the Option
to acquire an interest in the Land from the Agency on the Closing Date. The Company
will construct the Project pursuant to terms of this Agreement, the Lease Agreement,

14
] =



applicable construction contracts, and any financing indentures, covenants and
conditions.

(d) Project performance measures and timeframes. The Lease Agreement
shall contain provisions requiring the Company to meet specific performance measures
and timeframes for completion of the Project imposed by the Agency within the Lease
Agreement, such performance measures and timeframes to be subject to the Company’s
exclusive approval.

()  Project Insurance and Indemnities. The Lease Agreement will require the
Company to provide appropriate insurance coverage for the Project, along with
provisions whereby the Company shall indemnify the Agency and its respective assigns
from any and all costs and liabilities associated with the Land and the Project.

Section 6.3  Indemnification and Hold Harmless Provisions.

(a) Subject to the provisions contained herein or within any other agreement
by and among the parties hereto, the Company hereby releases the Agency and its assigns
from, agrees that the Agency, and its assigns shall not be liable for, and agrees to
indemnify, defend and hold the Agency and its assigns and their executive director,
officers, members, directors and employees, and their respective successors, assigns or
personal representatives, harmless from and against any and all (i) liability for loss or
damage to property or injury to or death of any and all persons that may be occasioned by
any cause whatsoever pertaining to the Project arising by reason of or in connection with
the occupation or the use thereof or the presence on, in or about the Land and Project or
(ii) liability arising from or expense incurred by the Agency’s financing, construction,
renovation, equipping, owning and leasing of the Project, including without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, all causes of action and attorneys’ fees and any other
expenses incurred in defending any suits or actions which may arise as a result of any of
the foregoing. The foregoing indemnities shall apply notwithstanding the fault or
negligence on the part of the Agency or any of its members, directors, officers, agents or
employees and irrespective of the breach of a statutory obligation or the application of
any rule of comparative or apportioned liability; except, however, that such indemnities
will not be applicable with respect to willful misconduct or gross negligence on the part
of the indemnified party to the extent that such an indemnity would be prohibited by law.
The above-described indemnifications shall survive the Closing Date and during the term
of the Lease Agreement.

(b)  Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein or within any other
agreement by and among the parties hereto, the Agency hereby releases the Company
and its assigns from, agrees that the Company, and its assigns shall not be liable for, and
agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the Company and its assigns and their officers,
members, directors and employees, and their respective successors, assigns or personal
representatives, harmless from and against any and all (i) liability for loss or damage to
property or injury to or death of any and all persons that may be occasioned by any cause
whatsoever pertaining to the Agency’s or its assigns’ undertaking of the Agency

15
AP



Infrastructure Project (with the exception of any liability associated with the Company’s
undertaking of the Agency Infrastructure Project, as permitted herein); (ii) liability
arising from or expense incurred by the Agency’s or its assigns’ undertaking of the
Agency Infrastructure Project including without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
all causes of action and attorneys’ fees and any other expenses incurred in defending any
suits or actions which may arise as a result of any of the foregoing. The foregoing
indemnities shall apply notwithstanding the fault or negligence on the part of the
Company or any of its members, directors, officers, agents or employees and irrespective
of the breach of a statutory obligation or the application of any rule of comparative or
apportioned liability; except, however, that such indemnities will not be applicable with
respect to willful misconduct or gross negligence on the part of the indemnified party to
the extent that such an indemnity would be prohibited by law. The above-described
indemnifications shall survive the Closing Date and during the term of the Lease

Agreement.
6.4 Title Review.

During the Development Term, the Company shall order a fully guaranteed
abstract (or abstracts) of title setting forth the title for the Property for at least sixty (60)
years, including tax, title, and judgment searches run against the Property, all dated or
redated subsequent to commencement of the Development Term, with copies of all title
exception documents (“Title Commitment™) in order to permit the Title Company to issue
to the Company at Closing, ALTA Owner’s, and to the lender(s), Lender’s Title
Insurance Policies (the “Title Policy”), which shall include all title endorsements required
by Company and Company’s lender(s), as well as the Company’s members and any
equity partner(s), insuring good and marketable fee simple or leasehold title to the Land,.
The cost of such Title Commitment, as well as the cost of continuing such searches to
and including the Closing Date shall be paid by the Company. A copy of the Title
Commitment shall be provided to the Agency within Ten (10) days of receipt thereof by
the Company. The Company shall review the Title Commitment and provide Agency
with written notice of any objectionable title conditions. Within twenty (20) business
days after its receipt of the notice from the Company of any objectionable title
conditions, the Agency shall notify the Company as to whether or not the Agency shall (i)
remedy the objectionable title conditions (at or prior to Closing), or (ii) at the Company’s
sole election, obtain the Title Company’s commitment to insure over, at the Agency’s
cost and expense, each of the objectionable title conditions noted by the Company (the
“Title Notice™). The Agency shall be required to cure objectionable title conditions other
than the Permitted Exceptions, as defined within Schedule B of the Title Commitment
(the “Permitted Exceptions”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein,
Permitted Exceptions shall not include and the Agency shall be obligated to cure, without
limitation, objectionable title conditions that the Company expressly agrees to be
responsible to cure (which shall include any title conditions created by the Company
during the Development Term); exceptions for filed or unfiled mechanics' liens resulting
from work performed by or at the request of the Company for the Project and/or Agency
Infrastructure Project pursuant to Section 5.1(a)(ii) hereof, taxes, judgments, or other
liens; the exception for defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims or other matters

16
ks



created after the date of the Title Commitment but prior to the Closing. The parties agree
to cooperate with each other to ensure that the Title Policy shall be in form and substance
acceptable to the Company, and Company’s lender(s), as well as the Company’s
members and any equity partner(s), as of the Closing Date. In the event that Closing
shall fail to occur as a consequence of the Agency being unable or unwilling to deliver
title to the Land as described above, the Deposit shall be returned to the Company,
subject to offset as set forth within Sections 2.5 and 8.11 hereof.

ARTICLE VII
NO RECOURSE OF AGENCY

Section 7.1.  No Recourse; Special Obligation.

(a) The obligations and agreements of the Agency contained herein and any
other instrument or document executed in connection herewith, and any other instrument
or document supplemental thereto or hereto, shall be deemed the obligations and
agreements of the Agency, and not of any member, director, officer, agent (other than the
Company) or employee of the Agency in his individual capacity, and the members,
officers, agents (other than the Company) and employees of the Agency shall not be
liable personally hereon or thereon or be subject to any personal liability or
accountability based upon or in respect hereof or thereof or of any transaction
contemplated hereby or thereby.

(b)  The obligations and agreements of the Agency contained herein shall not
constitute or give rise to an obligation of the State or of the County of Jefferson, New
- York, and neither the State, nor the County of Jefferson, New York shall be liable hereon
or thereon. and, further, other than those covenants and indemnities provided by the
Agency to the Company herein, such obligations and agreements shall not constitute or
give rise to a general obligation of the Agency, but rather shall constitute limited
obligations of the Agency, as its interests may appear, payable solely from the revenues
of the Agency derived and to be derived from the sale or other disposition of the Land,
including the Deposit, or any indemnification or proceeds derived from the Performance
Bonds, and/or insurance to be provided pursuant to Section 5.1(a)(ii), hereof.

Section 7.2. No Joint Venture Created.

The parties hereto mutually agree that by entering into this Agreement the parties
hereto are not entering into a joint venture.

ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 8.1. Notices.

17
-44-



All notices, certificates and other communications hereunder shall be in w:iting
and shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when delivered and, if
delivered by mail, shall be sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

To the Agency: Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
800 Starbuck Avenue, Suite 800 -
Watertown, New York 13601
Attn: David J. Zembiec, Chief Executive Officer

With copies to: Harris Beach PLLC
677 Broadway, Suite 1101
Albany, New York 12207
Attn: Justin S. Miller, Esq.

To the Company: Convalt Energy, Inc.
800 Starbuck Avenue, Suite A-15
Watertown, New York 103601
Attn: Hari Achuthan

or at such other address as any party may from time to time furnish to the other party by
notice given in accordance with the provisions of this Section. All notices shall be-
deemed given when mailed or personally delivered in the manner provided in this

Section.

Section 8.2. Binding Effect.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the
Agency, the Company and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 8.3.  Severability.

In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holdmg shall not invalidate or
render unenforceable any other provision hereof.

Section 8.4. Amendments, Changes and Modifications.

This Agreement may not be amended, changed, modified, altered or terminated
without the concurring written consent of the parties hereto.

Section 8.5.  Execution of Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be
an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

Section 8.6. Applicable Law.

18
-45-



This Agreement shall be governed, construed and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of New York for contracts to be wholly performed therein.

Section 8.7.  Recording and Filing.

This Agreement or a memorandum thereof, shall be recorded or filed, as the case
may be, in the Office of the Clerk of the County of Jefferson, or in such other office as
may at the time be provided by law as the proper place for the recordation or filing
thereof.

Section 8.8.  Survival of Obligations.

This Agreement shall survive beyond the Closing Date and the performance of the
obligations of the Company to make payments required by Section 2.3. All indemnities
contained herein shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement,

Section 8.9; Section Headings Not Controlling,

The headings of the several sections in this Agreement have been prepared for
convenience of reference only and shall not control, affect the meaning or be taken as an
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

Section 8.10. No Broker.

The Agency and the Company represent and warrant to the other that no party
hereto has dealt with any broker or finder entitled to any commission, fee, or other
compensation by reason of the execution of this Agreement, and each party agrees to
indemnify and hold the other harmless from any charge, liability or expense (including
attorneys’ fees) the other may suffer, sustain, or incur with respect to any claim for a
commission, fee or other compensation by a broker or finder claiming by, through or
under the other party.

Section 8.11. Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.

(a)  In accordance with the Application submitted by the Company, and the
provisions hereof, the Company shall be responsible for payment of all reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred by the Agency in connection with the within
described Project. It is agreed by the parties hereto that all accrued attorneys’ fees and
expenses incurred by the Agency following the date hereof will be paid by the Company
on the Closing Date, however, if the Company submits an Extension Request or if an
Extension Term is granted and/or memorialized in accordance herewith, then all accrued
attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred by the Agency will be paid by the Company prior
to the effectiveness of any such Extension Term. Any attorneys’ fees and expenses
accrued by the Agency after the Closing Date shall be paid by the Company within thirty
(30) days of written request by the Agency. In the event that the Closing Date does not

19
_46-



occur within the Development Term provided herein, or if the Company should default
under any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Lease Agreement, or any other
agreement associated with the Project, and the Agency should employ attorneys or incur
other-expenses for the collection of amounts payable hereunder or the enforcement of
performance or observance of any obligations or agreements on the part of the Company
herein contained, the Company shall, within thirty (30) days of written request by the
Agency, pay to the Agency all reasonable and outstanding attorneys’ fees and expenses,
along with the reasonable fees of attorneys and such other expenses so incurred in
collecting same. In the event that the Company has satisfied all Express Contingencies
and it is nonetheless necessary for the Company to submit an Extension Request due to
the Agency’s failure to satisfy an Express Contingency, then the Agency shall first apply
the Deposit toward payment of reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses accrued by the
Agency in connection with the within described Project through the commencement date
of the Automatic Extension. The balance of reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses
accrued by the Agency in connection with the within described Project, after application
of the Deposit, shall nonetheless be due and payable by the Company prior to execution
and delivery of any such extension.

(b)  If the Company shall elect to exercise rights under the Performance Bonds
and/or undertake the Dedication Approvals, the Agency shall pay to the Company the
reasonable fees of attorneys relating to same, along with such other expenses so incurred
in collecting same within thirty (30) days of written request by the Company. The
Company’s written request to the Agency shall be accompanied with detailed invoices
and evidence of payments made relating to the Agency Infrastructure Project and
Dedication Approvals.

Section 8.12. No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver.

In the event any agreement contained herein should be breached by any party and
thereafter waived by any other party, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach
so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach hereunder.

Section 8.13. Force Majeure.

Neither party shall be liable for any failure or delay in performance under this
Agreement (other than for delay in the payment of money due and payable hereunder) to
the extent said failures or delays are proximately caused by causes beyond that party’s
reasonable control and occurring without its fault or negligence, including, without
limitation, acts of God, war, insurrection, terrorism, natural disasters or epidemics
proximate to the Project. As a condition to the claim of nonliability, the party
experiencing the difficulty shall give the other prompt written notice, with full details
following the occurrence of the cause relied upon. Dates by which performance
obligations are scheduled to be met will be extended for a period of time equal to the time

lost due to any delay so caused.

Section 8.14. Assignment.

20
AP



(a)  This Agreement may not be assigned by the Company in whole or in part
except to a Related Person of the Company (as that term is defined in subparagraph (C)
of paragraph three of subsection (b) of section four hundred sixty-five of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, hereinafter “Related Person”) without the prior
written consent of the Agency. The Company’s ability to exercise the Option by and
through affiliate Convalt Manufacturing, LLC shall be subject to the provisions of this
Section 8.14. A transfer in excess of 50% of the equity voting interests of the Company,
other than to a Related Person of the Company, shall be deemed an assignment and
require the prior written consent of the Agency. Any assignment shall be consented to by
the Agency on the following conditions, as of the time of each assignment:

(1) no assignment shall relieve the Company from primary
liability for any of its obligations hereunder;

(i)  any approved assignee shall assume the obligations of
the Company hereunder to the extent of the interest assigned;

(iii)  the Company shall, within ten (10) days after the delivery thereof,
furnish or cause to be furnished to the Agency a true and complete
copy of such assignment and the instrument of assumption; and

(iv)  if the Agency shall so request, as of the purported effective date of
any assignment pursuant to subsection (&) of this Section 8.14, the
Company at its cost shall furnish to the Agency with an opinion, in
form and substance satisfactory to the Agency as to items (i) and
(i1) above. '

(b) Any such assignment shall be subject to the review and approval by the
Agency and its counsel (at no cost to the Agency; any such cost to be paid by the
Company, including attorney’s fees), and shall contain such terms and conditions as
reasonably required by the Agency and its counsel.

Section 8.15. Company Right to Terminate.

The Agency acknowledges that the Company shall have the right, at its sole
discretion, to terminate the Agreement and/or seek any available remedy at law or equity,
including specific enforcement of the Agency’s obligations hereunder. The Company’s
election to terminate this Agreement shall be evidenced in writing and transmitted to the
Agency in accordance with Section 8.1, hereof. Termination of this Agreement by the
Company shall automatically extinguish and nullify the Option and related development

rights granted herein.

21
-48-



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Agency and the Company have caused this
Agreement to be executed in their respective names, all as of the date first above written.

JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

By:
Name: David J. Zembiec
Title: Chief Executive Officer

CONVALT ENERGY LLC

- By:
Name: Hari Achuthan
Title: President & CEO

22
-49-



State of New York )
: ) S5.:
County of Jefferson ) '
On the day of in the year 2021 before me, the

undersigned, personally appeared David J. Zembiec, personally known to me or proved
to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individual whose name is subscribed
to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his
capacity, and that by his signature on the instrument, the individual, or the person upon
behalf of which the individual acted, executed the instrument.

Notary Public
State of New York )
) 8§81
County of )
On the __ day of in the year 2021 before me, the undersigned,

personally appeared Hari Achuthan, personally known to me or proved to me on the basis
of satisfactory evidence to be the individual whose name is subscribed to the within
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she executed the same in his/her capacity,
and that by his/her signature on the instrument, the individual, or the person upon behalf
of which the individual acted, executed the instrument.

Notary Public

23
Bl



EXHIBT A
PROPERTY CONDITION REPORTS

24
-B1-



EXHIBIT B
DEPICTION OF THE LAND

25
<52



EXHIBIT C
AGENCY INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT

26
-53-



Page: 1

JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
Income Statement for the Ten Month Period Ending July 31, 2021

Prepared by Lyle Eaton, July 28, 2021 UNRECONCILED

Current Year-to-Dat Current Previous Balance

Year e Total Month Month Remaining

Budget
Revenues
Application & Process Fees 3,000.00 31,7513 § (4,400.00) 251.53 (28,751.53)
RCI Annual CD Fund 279,427.00 279,427.20 0.00 0.00 (0.20)
Bond Admin Fee 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
PILOT/Sale Leaseback Fees 914,174.00 1,364,758.66 0.00 51,676.26 (450,584.66)
Fee Income - RLF Program 43,424.00 18,092.90 0.00 0.00 25,331.10
Fee Income - Micro Program 26,137.00 10,890.40 0.00 0.00 15,246.60
Interest Income 3,500.00 1,722.06 140.38 152.04 1,777.94
Interest Income - RLF Program 25,000.00 18,503.34 1,063.65 1,316.96 6,496.66
Interest Income - City Fund 6,000.00 3,760.59 335.02 336.41 2,239.41
Interest Income - Micro Prog. 9,000.00 6,604.42 828.71 710.54 2,395.58
Late Payment Penalty - Micro 100.00 257.52 157.88 7.46 (157.52)
Miscellaneous Income 1,500.00 69,462.87 2,881.25 173.23 (67,962.87)
YMCA Income 0.00 33,027.70 7,057.42 6,313.54 (33,027.70)
Credits on Easement 0.00 2,656.44 0.00 0.00 (2,656.44)
Total Revenues 1,314,262.00 1,843,915.63 8,064.31 60,937.97 (529,653.63)
Operations
Office Expense 1,000.00 1,284.61 210.10 200.00 (284.61)
RCI Fee Sharing 139,714.00 139,713.50 0.00 0.00 0.50
Admin Services Exp 662,665.00 552,220.80 55,222.08 55,222.08 110,444.20
Depreciation Expense - Saiing 0.00 4,073.88 1,357.96 1,357.96 (4,073.88)
D&O Insurance 14,000.00 12,143.30 1,214.33 1,214.33 1,856.70
Commercial Insurance 10,000.00 6,439.20 643,92 643.92 3,560.80
FTZ Expense 1,250.00 1,250.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Legal- Retainer 0.00 3,000.00 1,500.00 1,5600.00 (3,000.00)
Legal - Unrestricted 18,000.00 21,966.31 0.00 942.54 (3,966.31)
Legal YMCA 0.00 6,163.30 0.00 0.00 (6,163.30)
Accounting & Auditing 11,000.00 10,700.00 0.00 0.00 300.00
CEDS Update 7,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 7,500.00
Consultants 0.00 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 (1,500.00)
Coffeen Park Taxes 1,700.00 1,759.79 0.00 0.00 (59.79)
Airport Park Taxes 1,000.00 1,052.54 0.00 0.00 (52.54)
Fees Expense 2,000.00 2,132.70 0.00 0.00 (132.70)
Loss on Disposal Fixed Assets 0.00 111,574.96 111,574.96 0.00 (111,574.96)
Bad Debt--RLF 190,000.00 (15,805.00) 0.00 0.00 205,805.00
Bad Debt--Micro 30,642.00 (6,000.00) (6,000.00) 0.00 36,642.00
RLF Program Expense 43,424 .00 18,092.90 0.00 0.00 25,331.10
Microenterprise Program Exp 26,167.00 10,930.80 0.00 40.40 15,236.20
RLF Audit Expense 800.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 800.00
146 Arsenal Bldg Maintenance 0.00 2,765.00 0.00 0.00 (2,765.00)
Plowing 146 Arsenal 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.00
IDA 146 Arsenal Bldg Expense 25,000.00 20,381.71 180.04 1,611.96 4,618.29
City/County Parking Lot Fund 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Insurance 13,000.00 . 21,657.50 2,155.75 2,155.75 (8,557.50)
Building Depreciation 33,000.00 53,270.67 2,443.47 5,327.39 (20,270.67)
146 Arsena Equip. Depreciation 3,000.00 3,579.48 0.00 397.72 (579.48)
146 Arsenal Electric 20,000.00 46,706.01 0.00 6,401.47 (26,706.01)
146 Arsenal Water 2,200.00 2,542.05 0.00 43.38 (342.05)
Salary Expense 17,000.00 29,030.36 2,635.28 2,613.31 (12,030.36)
Miscellaneous - Unrestricted 200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 200.00
Total Operations 1,314,262.00 1,084,026.37 173,137.89 79,572.21 230,235.63
Total Revenue 1,314,262.00 1,843,915.63 8,064.31 60,937.97 (529,653.63)
Total Expenses 1,314,262.00 1,084,026.37 173,137.89 79,672.21 230,235.63
Net Income Over Expenditures $ 0.00 759,889.26 § (165,073.58) (18,634.24) (759,889.26)

For Interi-54-Ise Only



Jeff Co Industrial Development Agency
Balance Sheet

July 31, 2021
ASSETS

Current Assets

General Checking 938,797.26

Savings Account 248,781.00

PILOT Checking Account 36,296.55
Microenterprise Account 118,889.45

City Loan Account 206,928.53
Revolving Loan Fund Account 3,723,621.63

PILOT Monies Receivable 148,946.22
Miscellaneous Receivable 56,810.67

Acct Receivable - Rogers 18,230.62

RLF Loans Receivable 720,451.24
Microenterprise Loans Rec. 190,698.71

Watn. Economic Growth Fund Rec 80,070.31
Allowance for Bad Debt-RLF (190,000.00)

Allow. for Bad Debts-MICRO (30,641.75)

Prepaid Expense 8,478.15

Total Current Assets 6,276,358.59

Property and Equipment

Accum Depr - Building

Accum Depr. Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation Sidin

Total Property and Equipment

Other Assets

IT Server

Galaxy Tablets

146 Arsenal WIP Remediation
Corp. Park Improvements
Alirport Property

Intangible Asset

WIP Airport

WIP Intersection

Woolworth Building

Rail Siding CCIP

146 Ars Building Improvements
WIP Arsenal Deck & Sidewalks

Total Other Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

PILOT Monies Payable

Due HUD - RLF Interest

Due HUD - MICRO Interest
Maintenance Reserve Convergys
Maintenance Expense Convergys
Car Freshner Signage

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities

(1,010,820.12)
(52,269.66)
(4,073.88)

6,050.00
13,366.00
83,055.00
209,995.14
884,326.02

53,195.00
141,745.86
244,973.52
505,000.00
244,434.00
730,948.56

12,495.00

$

(1,067,163.66)

3,129,584.10

8,338,779.03

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL

184,973.88
1,406.00
10.41
14,445.48
25,927.57
11,000.00

237,763.34

Unaudited - For Ma - 55 -ient Purposes Only



Due NYS/IAP L.T.
Deferred Revenue - Rogers

Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Capital

General Fund Bal - Unrestrict.

Fund Bal - RLF Restricted
Fund Bal - Micro Restricted
Fund Bal - City Restricted
Cap. Impr. Convergys

Net Income

Total Capital

Total Liabilities & Capital

Jeff Co Industrial Development Agency
Balance Sheet
July 31, 2021

180,159.78
18,883.76

199,043.54

436,306.88

1,065,873.31
4,419,309.27
414,850.76
262,489.22
979,560.33
759,889.26

7,901,972.15

$ 8,338,779.03

Unaudited - For Mai. 54 - ent Purposes Only



Page: |
JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
146 Arsenal Expenses for the Ten Month Period Ending July 31, 2021
Prepared by Lyle Eaton

Current Year-to-Da Current Previous % YTD of
Year te Total Menth Month Budget

Budget
Expenses
146 Arsenal Bldg Maintenanc  § 0.00 2,765.00 §$ 0.00 0.00 0.00
Plowing 146 Arsenal 20,000.00 0.00 . 0.00 0.00 0.00
IDA 146 Arsenal Bldg Expens 25,000.00 20,381.71 180.04 1,511.96 81.53
City/County Parking Lot Fund 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
Insurance 13,000.00 21,557.50 2,155.75 2,155.75 165.83
Building Depreciation 33,000.00 53,270.67 2,443.47 5,327.39 161.43
146 Arsena Equip. Depreciati 3,000.00 3,579.48 0.00 397.72 119.32
146 Arsenal Electric 20,000.00 46,706.01 0.00 6,401.47 233.53
146 Arsenal Water 2,200.00 2,542.05 0.00 43.38 115.55
Salary Expense 17,000.00 29,030.36 2,635.28 2,613.31 170.77
Total Expenses $ 153,200.00 199,832.78 § 7.414.54 18,450.98 130.44

For Inter-57 -3e Only



7/28/21 at 15:02:34.02

Jeff Co Industrial Development Agency

General Checking Cash Receipts Journal

For the Period From Jun 1, 2021 to Jun 30, 2021
Filter Criteria includes: Report order is by Check Date. Report is printed in Detail Format.

Page: 1

Date AccountID Transaction Line Description Debit Amnt Credit Amnt
6/3/21 207005 482 6/21 & 7/21 DUE MICRO 717.00
205602 6/21 & 7/21 DUE SHLDC 717.00
100001 THE SANDWIGH BAR 1,434.00
6/3/21 125001 10025 Invoice: 3608 151.53
‘ 100001 THERARTPY 151.53
6/3/21 125501 3247 5/21 PRINCIPAL 173.23
412501 5/21 INTEREST 141.68
100001 KENNETH F. ROGERS 314.91
6/7/21 125001 ACH Invoice: 3606 191,275.02
100001 NY USLE CARTHAGE UNIT A 191,275.02
6/7/21 125001 ACH Invoice: 3607 145,755.38
100001 NY USLE CARTHAGE UNIT B 145,755.38
617121 207005 19294 DUE MICRO 565.35
205602 DUE SHLDC 424,02
100001 PAINFULL ACRES 989.37
6/17/21 125100 0624 Invoice: 3596 6,736.55
125100 Invoice: 3597 6,756.89
100001 YMCA 13,493.44
6/17/21 125001 732 Invoice: 3605 151.50
100001 ERIC SOULES 151.50
6/17/21 125001 0452060835 Invoice: 3612 100.00
100001 BROOKS DELIVERY, LLC 100.00
6/24/21 125001 3658 Invoice: 3613 1,900.00
100001 BRENNAN'S BAY , INC 1,900.00
6/24/21 207005 1406 DUE MICRO 134.51
205602 DUE SHLDC 134,52
100001 MAIN STREET CRAFTS & DRAFTS 269.03
6/24/21 125001 1900 Invoice: 7-10-2018 270.25
100001 LAKE CHAMPLAIN LAKE GEORGE 270.25
REGIONAL
6/30/21 207005 495 DUE MICRO 358,50
205602 DUE SHLDC 358.50
100001 THE SANDWICH BAR 717.00
6/30/21 125001 31155 Invoice: 3587 99,552.50
100001 OYA ROBINSON ROAD LLC 99,552.50
6/30/21 125001 31156 Invoice: 3588 99,552.50
100001 OYA WAYSIDE DRIVE, LLC 89,552.50
555,926.43 555,926.43

-58-




7/28/21 at 15:15:59.80
Jeff Co Industrial Development Agency
Miscellaneous Receivables
As of Jul 31, 2021
Filter Criteria includes: 1) Includes Drop Shipments. Repart order is by ID. Report is printed in Detail Format,

Page: 1

Customer ID Invoice/CM 0-30 31-60 61-90 Over 90 days

Customer
Bill To Contact
Telephone 1

Amount Due

CIDC ” PR 3-23-12 -338.38
CARTHAGE INDUSTRIAL DEV. COR
JOHN MCHUGH

493-4429

-338.38

cibc -338.38
CARTHAGE INDUSTRIAL DEV. COR

-338.38

OYA ROBINSON 3614 24,888.13
OYA ROBINSON ROAD LLC

24,888.13

OYA ROBINSON ‘ 24,888.13
OYA ROEINSON ROAD LLC

24,888.13

OYA WAYSIDE 3615 24,888.13
OYA WAYSIDE DRIVE, LLC :

24,888.13

OYA WAYSIDE 24,888.13
OYA WAYSIDE DRIVE, LLC

24,888.13

WILLOWBROOK 3623 600.00
WILLOWBROOK ENTERPRISE, INC.

600.00

WILLOWBROOK 600.00
WILLOWBROOK ENTERPRISE, INC. :

600.00

YMCA 3622 6,634.41

YMCA
EX DIRECTOR DENISE YOUNG

6,634.41

YMCA 6,634.41
YMCA

6,634.41

Report Total 57,010.67 -338.38

56,672.29

-59.-



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
MICRO Loan Fund Receivables

July 31, 2021
Original Current Current
Recipient Date Issued Amount Balance Status Purpose of Loan
1[Colleens Cherry Tree Inn May-19 40,000.00| 32,394.12| 1 Delinquent |Expand Restaurant - Ice Ceram Shop
2|R. L. Gould & Son, LLC March-19 40,000.00| 24,388.15| Current |Open UPS Store
3| Tl Area Habitat For Humanity April-18 40,000.00] 17,205.91 Current  |Open ReStore
4|Main Street Crafts & Drafts Sep-18 7.150.00 3,783.38| Current [Craft Shop & Bar
5|Painfull Acres Mar-18 40,000.00| 24,543.82] Current  |Amish Furniture Store
6|The Sandwich Bar Feb-19 19,000.00 5,813.21 Current |Restaurant
7|Sarah's Barber Shop Mar-20 10,000.00 7,883.39( 1 Delinquent |Barber Shop
8|The Scrub Hub Apr-18 18,656.00 7,366.34| Current  [Scrubs Clothing
9|Therartpy Jul-21 10,102,001 10,102.00( Current |Art Therapy
10| Taste of Design Apr-07 40,000.001 17,218.39| Current |Coffee Shop
11|Willowbrook Jul-21 40,000.00|1 40,000.001 Current |Purchase Gole Club
Total MICRO Receivables 304,908.00| 190,698.71 -

accounting/IDA Financials 60



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency

Revolving Loan Fund Receivables

July 31, 2021
Original Current Current
Recipient Date Issued| Amount Balance Status Purpose of Loan

1]|RBM Manufacturing November-19|  200,000.00{ 400,000.00| Current |Working Capital Additional 11/2020
2|Meadowbrook Terrace August-12|  250,000.00( 47,160.07| Current |Working Cap During Construction
3|MLR, LLC July-07| 250,000.00| 91,886.06| Current |Expand Warehouse
4)Wright Bros, LLC June-12| 241,743.00| 181,315.11| Current [Purchase Building

Total RLF Receivables 941,743.00] 720,361.24|

accounting/IDA Financials

-61-




Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency

City Loan Fund Receivables

July 31, 2021

Recipient

Date Issued

Original
Amount

Current
Balance

Current
Status

Purpose of Loan

Current Applications

Apr-15

101,403.00

80,070.31

Current

Manufacturing Plant Expansion

Total CITY FUN DReceivah]_es

101,403.00

80,070.31

accounting-jcidafolder

-62-




7/28/21 at 15:18:47.46

Jeff Co Industrial Development Agency
Cash Disbursements Journal
For the Period From Jul 1, 2021 to Jul 31, 2021
Filter Criteria includes: Report order is by Date. Report is printed in Detail Format,

Page: 1

Date Check# Account|D Line Description Debit Amount Credit Amount

7121 7554 200001 Invoice: MONTHLY ADMIN FEES 55,222.08
100001 JEFF COUNTY LDC 55,222.08

7/8/21 7555 200001 Invoice: 5126024 840.00

200001 Invoice: 5126023 90.00
100001 BARCLAY DAMON LLP 930.00

718121 7556 200001 Invoice: 2340 1,317.64
100001 JEFF COUNTY LDC 1,317.64

718121 7557 200001 Invoice: 17024-6/21 5,891.16
100001 NATIONAL GRID 5,891.16

7/8/21 7558 200001 Invoice: 1272  13,150.00
100001 SESSLER ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 13,150.00

718121 7559 200001 Invoice: 0001851-6/21 43.38

200001 Invoice: 000001 1-6/21 268.89
100001 CITY OF WATERTOWN COMPTROLLER 312.27

7115121 7560 200001 Invoice: R0092234 10.10
100001 DATA FACTS, INC. 10.10

7115121 7561 200001 Inveice: 8811909 1,500.00
100001 HARRIS BEACH 1,500.00

7/15/21 7563 200001 Invoice: 21.0630.45 6,035.00
100001 PARADIGM ENVIRONMENTAL, LLC 6,035.00

7115121 7564 200001 Invoice: REFUND 50% FEE 5,000.00
100001 SOLITUDE SOLAR, LLC 5,000.00

7/22/21 7565 200001 Invoice: 8811903 6,325.00
100001 HARRIS BEACH 6,325.00

7122121 7566 200001 Invoice: 7/21 PAINFULL 565.35
100001 JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 565.35

7i22/121 7567 200001 Invoice: 2342 1,317.64
100001 JEFF COUNTY LDC 1,317.64

7122121 7568 200001 Invoice: 7/21 PAINFULL 424,02
100001 SACKETS HARBOR LDC 424,02

7122721 7569 200001 Invoice: 2169599-7/21 180.04
100001 WESTELCOM 180.04

7/29/21 7570 200001 Invoice: 21-641 48,695.00
100001 BERNIER, CARR & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 48,695.00

7129121 7572 200001 Invoice: 17G00006 200.00

200001 Invoice: 17J00005 200.00

200001 Invoice: 17K00007 200.00

200001 Invoice: 17L00003 200.00

200001 Invoice: 17M00005 200.00

200001 Invoice: 177N00004 200.00

200001 Invoice: 17R00004 400.00
100001 THOMAS TRASH SERVICE 1,600.00

7i29/21 7573 200001 Invoice; 21.2714.5 7,250.00
100001 PARADIGM ENVIRONMENTAL, LLC 7,250.00
Total 1565,725.30 165,725.30

-63-




Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Loan Review Committee Meeting Minutes
July 28, 2021

Present: Robert Aliasso, Chair; John Jennings

Absent: David Converse

Also Present: Marshall Weir, Lyle Eaton, Peggy Sampson, Joy Nuffer, Rob Aiken, Christine
Powers, and Brendan Straub from 7News
Zoom: David Zembiec, Justin Miller, Esq.

IL.

I

Call to Order: Chair Aliasso called the meeting to order at 8:10 a.m.

Brooks Delivery, LLC - A request for a $40,000 MICRO to take over an existing
courier business contracted through FedEx. Staff review the request and recommended
approval for a 5-year amortization with a rate of 5%. There are currently two positions
and 17 will be added in year one (once Ms. Brooks officially takes over the business).
Collateral will be a second lien position behind Watertown Savings Bank on assets of the
business and a personal guarantee of Erin Brooks. The loan will be contingent upon bank
financing.

Mr. Jennings asked if Ms. Brooks is already operating the business. Ms. Nuffer indicated
that Ms. Brooks started managing the business in June and will assume ownership with
our loan proceeds and the Watertown Savings Bank loan.

Ms. Nuffer noted that the previous owner is retiring and that this is a good business to get
behind.

Mr. Aliasso noted that the 17 positions appear to be current. He suggested different
wording in the draft resolution. It was noted that the 17 employees will be obtained after

the ownership transfer.

After review and discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Jennings to move the request to
the full board, seconded by Mr. Aliasso. All in favor.

Other/Unfinished Business:

1. The Gill House, LLC — Mr. Aliasso said that staff has been aware of the proposed
project and received the application late last night. He said that staff will need time to
determine if the application is complete, but felt that it could go directly to the full
board for consideration.

Mr. Eaton said that the project is under construction and has a total project cost of
$2,030,000 and estimating $40,000 for sales tax savings. He said they are projecting
5FT and 11PT employees. He noted that the project will fall under tourism.

-64-



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Loan Review Committee Meeting Minutes
July 28, 2021

IV.

Ms. Powers asked if there is an anticipated opening date. Mr. Eaton said it will be in
the Fall of next year.

Mr. Aliasso asked if staff has discussed the REDI program with them since their
shoreline is pretty beat up. Mr. Zembiec said that we haven’t, but said that Mr. Weir
can check the list to see if they are on it.

Mr. Aliasso suggested the application be sent to the full board for discussion and
consideration. Mr. Jennings moved, seconded by Mr. Aliasso.

2. DigiCollect — Mr. Zembiec said that he is working with Attorney Miller to get a draft
Land Development Agreement (LDA) in place. Attorney Miller said that he hopes to
have it in the upcoming board packet. Mr. Zembiec noted that the LDA will include
reference to a 50,000 square foot building and proposed 700 jobs. Mr. Eaton said that
he has prepared the cost benefit analysis.

3. Convalt Energy — Attorney Miller said that the LDA is in final form and that we are
waiting for Mr. Achuthan to file the general certificate for the business with the
Department of State. Attorney Miller noted that the IDA has several obligations to
complete on behalf of Convalt for this project.

Adjournment: With no further business before the committee, Mr. Jennings made a
motion to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Mr. Aliasso. The meeting adjourned at 8:35
a.1m.

Respectfully submitted,
cp

-65-



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Loan Review Committee

Date: 7/28/2021

Borrower: Erin Brooks, Brooks Delivery, LLC

Amount: $40,000.00 |

Project: Funding to take over existing courier business
' contracted through FedEx

Personnel: 19

Sources and Uses:

Personal Cash $41,265 Purchase of business $391,127
Bank Loan $331,387 Working Capital $21,525
JCIDA MICRO Loan $40,000

Total Project $412 652 $412,652

Terms:
5 year loan, 5 % interest, contingent on bank financing

Financials:
Financials of the previous owner of this business show it to be very profitable

Collateral:
UCC filing, second position lien on assets of the organization and personal guarantee of Erin Brooks

Proforma-Brooks Delivery, LLC

[ Proforma Sales Year 1 Year 2 Year3 |
Sales 92,462,320 $2,462,320 $2,462,320
Cost of Goods Sold $0 30 50
Gross Profit $2,462,320 $2,462,320 $2,462,320
Expenses $1,193,719 $1,192,009 $1,190,211
Net Profit $1,268,601 $1,270,311 $1,272,109
Depreciation $0 50 $0
Cash Flow $1,268,601 $1,270,311 $1,272,108
Debt Service Requirem  $33,426 $35,137 $36,934
Excess Cash $1,235,174 $1,235,175

$1,235,175

-66-



JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
Resolution Number 08.05.2021.01

RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZING A MICRO ENTERPRISE LOAN TO

Brooks Delivery, LLC
’ DRAFT

WHEREAS, Erin Brooks, owner/manager of Brooks Delivery, LLC requested by
application to this Agency a Micro Enterprise Loan in the amount of Forty Thousand Dollars
($40,000.00) to take over an existing courier business contracted through FedEx, and

WHEREAS, Staff reviewed this request and recommends approval of a loan in the
amount of $40,000 for a five-year amortization with a rate of 5%. There are currently two
positions and 17 will be added in year one (once Ms. Brooks officially takes over the business).
Collateral will be a second position lien behind Watertown Savings Bank on the assets of the
business and a personal guarantee of Erin Brooks. The loan will be contingent upon bank

financing, and

WHEREAS, on July 28, 2021, the Loan Review Committee of the Jefferson County
Industrial Development Agency reviewed this request and recommended approval of the loan
and terms to the full Board of Directors, and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the Jefferson
County Industrial Development Agency that it herein approved the request for a Forty Thousand
Dollar ($40,000.00) loan to Brooks Delivery, LLC with all terms and conditions as set forth in
this Resolution, and be it further,

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Secretary and/or Chief Executive
Officer are authorized and directed to execute any and all documents necessary to carry out the
purposes of this Resolution.

This resolution shall take effect immediately.

W. Edward Walldroff
Secretary

-67/-



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency

10/01/21- 9/30/22 Budget

Approved : Finance Comm.

Board Approved

Proposed Proposed Proposed
FYE 9-30-22 FYE 9-30-22 FYE 9-30-22
Budget Budget Budget
Unrestric 146 Arsenal  Restricted Total
Revenue
Application Fees 0 0
RCI Annual Fee 0 0
Civic Facilities Transfer 0 0
PILOT/ Sale Leaseback 900,000 900,000
RLF Fees 10,000 10,000
Micro. Fees 5,000 5,000
Bond Admin Fees 3,000 3,000
Convergys City Parking 0 0
Land Sales ( Gain/Loss) 0
Interest Income 2,000 2,000
RLF Int. 24,185 24,185
RLF Late Chg 0 0
City Interest 3,600 3,600
Micro Interest 7,650 7,650
Micro Late Chg. 0 0
Fee Woolworth 0 0
FTZ Fees 0 0
Convergys Capital Res. 0 0
Misc Income : 1,500 1,500
Total 921,500 0 35,435 956,935
Proposed Proposed Proposed
FYE 9-30-22 FYE 9-30-22 FYE 9-30-22
Budget Budget Budget
Unrestric 146 Arsenal Restricted Total
Expenses
Administrative Services 549,215 549,215
RCI Fee Sharing 0 0
Office Erxpense 1,500 1,500
D&O Insurance 15,000 15,000
Commercial Ins. 0 0
FTZ Expense 1,250 1,250
Airpart Development 0 0
Legal Retainer 9,300 9,300
Legal - Unres 50,000 50,000
Legal - RLF 0 0
Legal - Micro 0 0
Legal Corp Park 0 0
Legal Restructure 0
Auditing 12,000 12,000
CEDS Update 0 0
Consultants 0 0
Corp. Park Taxes 1,800 1,800
Airport Taxes 1,200 1,200
PAAA Exp 0 0
Fees 3,000 3,000
AG Park Expenses 0 0
Lawyer Parcel Expenses 0 0
Bad Debt RLF 190,000 190,000
Bad Debt Micro 31,000 31,000
RLF Expense 10,000 10,000
Micro Exp 5,000 5,000
RLF Audit 800 800
Interest 0
146 Arsenal Expense 43,372 43,372
Miscellaneous 200 200
Total 644 465 43,372 236,800 924,637
Revenue 921,500 0 35,435 956,935
Expenses 644,465 43,372 236,800 924,637
Net 277,035 (43,372) (201,366) 32,298

-68-

DRAFT



146 Arsenal Street Budget FYE 9/30/2022 DR AFT
BUDGET THREE MONTHS EXPENSE. SALE PENDING

Budget Actual Budget

Account Description FYE 9/30/21 5/31/2021 FYE 9/30/2022

721001 Building Legal Expense 0

721101 Landscaping 5,600

721301 Building Maintenance 0

721401 Security 0

721501 Plowing 20,000 16,200 SWBG

721601 Building Maintence/Managemant 25,375

721701 RE Taxes

721801 City Parking Lot Exp

721901 City/County Parking 20,000 20,000

721910 Insurance 15,000 16,653

722001 Building Depreciation 74,000 48,735 29,272

722002 Equipment Depreciation 4773 3,182 0

722010 Gas 0 1,500

722011 Electric 44,710 12,000

722012 Water 2,837 600

723001 Salary 21,725

723010 Consultants 2,280

133,773 207,297 43,372

-69-



Application to

Jefferson County Industrial
 Development Agency (JCIDA)

0 Tax Exempt Bond Financing
0 Taxable Bond Financing
x Lease Leaseback Transaction

Please contact the agency for more information
regarding project eligibility and application process.

Applicant (Company) Name:
The Gill House, LLC and The Gill House Inn, LLC

Applicant Address:

1426 N. 2nd Street, Suile 200, Phoenix AZ 85004

Phone:
(480) 529-7444

E-mail:

steve@thevollmereffect.com

Application Date: July 27, 2021

-_— . e,e—
Internal Use Only

Staff Signature and Date of Submission:
Revised Date: , Revision #:
Completed Application Date: Staff Initial

Document Date: November 1, 2018

-70-



Fee Schedule

Updated as of the date of the document

Taxable and Tax Exempt Industrial Development Revenue Bonds

Application Fee:

Fee:

Point of Contact:

A non-refundable fee of $2,500.00 is payable to the JCIDA at the time the
application is submitted. This fee will be credited towards the total fee at closing.

First $10 million — 2% of the principal amount of the bond series.
$10 million - $20 million — 1% of the bond series,
Any amount over $20 million — 0.5% of the bond series.

Annual Fee - $1,500.00

Donald Alexander — CEO JCIDA+] (315) 782-5865

Lease Leaseback Transactions

Application Fee:

Fee:

Point of Contact:

Revised Date:

A non-refundable fee of $2,500.00 is payable to the JCIDA at the time the
application is submitted. This fee will be credited towards the total fee at closing.

With a PILOT:

First $10 million — 2%

Second $10-$20 million - 0.5%

Any amount over $20 million - 0.25%

No PILOT —25% of the abatement value
Donald Alexander - CEO JICIDA +1 (315)782-5865

, Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

w ] 1=



/&1 Section I: Applicant Information

Please answer all questions. Use “None” or “Not Applicable” where necessary.

A) Applicant Information-company receiving benefit:

Applicant Name: 1he Gill House, LLC and The Gill House Inn, LLC
Applicant Address: 1426 N. 2nd Street, Suite 200, Phoenix AZ 85004

Phone: (480) 529-7444 _—
E-mail: Steve@thevollmereffect.com

Website:
Federal ID#: 85-4130410 NAICS:

Will a Real Estate Holding Company be utilized to own the Project property/facility? [] Yes or [H] No

What is the name of the Real Estate Holding Company:
Federal ID#:
State and Year or Incorporation/Organization:

List of stockholders, members, or partners of Real Estate Holding Company:

B) Individual Completing Application:

Name: Steven Vollmer

Title: Sole Member and President _
Address: 1426 N. 2nd Street, Suite 200, Phoeniz AZ 85004
Phone: (480) 529-7444 i
E-Mail: Steve@thevollmereffect.com

C) Company Contact (if different from Section B above):

Name:
Title:

Address:
Phone: Fax:

E-Mail;

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

e



D) Company Counsel:

Name of Attorney: Richard C. Engel

Firm Name: Mackenzie Hughes LLP

Address: 440 S. Warren Street, Suite 400, Syracuse, NY 13202

Phone: (315) 233-8220 Fax:

E-mail: fengel@mackenziehughes.com

E) Identify the assistance being requested of the Agency (select all that apply):

1. Exemption from Sales Tax m] Yes or [] No
2. Exemption from Mortgage Tax [] Yes or X] No
3. Exemption from Real Property Tax [J Yes or [m] No
4. Tax Exempt Financing * []Yes or[X] No

* (typically for not-for-profits and qualified small manufacturers)

F) Applicant Business Information (check appropriate category):

Corporation ] Partnership Il
Public Corporation J Joint Venture ]
Sole Proprietorship ] Limited Liability Company [x]

Other (please specify)
Year Established: 2020
State in which Organization is established: New York

G) List all Applicant stockholders, members, or partners with % of ownership greater than 20%:

Name % of ownership
Steven Vollmer 100%

H) Applicant Business Description:
Describe in detail company background, products, customers, goods and services. Description is critical
in determining eligibility: 1nhe company will own and manage The Gill House building,

which will serve as an inn, restaurant and bar when redeveloped.

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

i



100%

Estimated % of sales within Jefferson County :

Estimated % of sales outside Jefferson County, but within New York State: 0%
Estimated % of sales outside New York State but within the U.S.: 0%
Estimated % of sales outside the U.S. 0%

(*Percentage to equal 100%)

I) What percentage of your total annual supplies, raw materials and vendor services are purchased from
firms in Jefferson County. Include list of vendors, raw material suppliers and percentages for each.

Provide supporting documentation including estimated percentage of local purchases.
While work has not begun, Applicant expects that 80% of its vendors and

suppliers will be firms in Jefferson County.

Section II: Project Description & Details

A) Project Location:

List your current operation(s) locations in Jefferson County:
None

List your current operation(s) locations in New York State:
None

List the Proposed Project location(s) : Henderson, NY

Provide the Property Address of the proposed Project:
13565 County Route 123

Henderson, NY 13650

Will the completion of the Project result in the removal, or reduction of an industrial or manufacturing
plant of the Applicant from: one area of New York State to Jefferson County; or within Jefferson County?

[] Yes or No W

If Yes, please provide details

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

o 7.



6

Will the completion of the Project result in the abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the

Applicant located within New York State?

[] Yes or No [H]

If Yes, please provide details

Will the Proposed Project affect Applicant’s current operations within Jefferson County to be closed or

be subjected to reduced activity?

DYes or No [E

If Yes, please provide details

[f Yes to any of the above three (3) questions, Applicant must complete Section II (Q) and Section IV of
this Application.

Will the completion of the Project result in the abandonment, removal, or reduction of an industrial or
manufacturing plant of a closely aligned competitor from one area of New York State or Jefferson

County?
[] Yes or No |

If Yes, please provide details

SBL Number for Property upon which proposed Project will be located: 106.05-1-57

What are the current real estate taxes on the proposed Project Site? $8,371.08

If amount of current taxes is not available, provide assessed value for each:
Land: $281,900 Buildings(s): $ 145,600

** If available please include a copy of current tax bill.

Are Real Property Taxes current? [ Yes or [ ] No. If no, please explain

Town/City/Village: Henderson School District: Bélleville Henderson CSD

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-75-



Does the Applicant or any related entity currently hold fee title to the Project site? [M] Yes or [ ] No

If No, indicate name of present owner of the Project Site:

Does Applicant or related entity have an option/contract to purchase the Project site? [] Yes or [H] No

B) Please provide narrative of project and the purpose of the project (new build, renovations,
and/or equipment purchases). Identify specific uses occurring within the project. Describe any and
all tenants and any/all end users: (This information is critical in determining project eligibility):

(please see attached project description)

Describe the reasons why the Agency’s Financial Assistance is necessary, and the effect the Project
will have on the Applicant’s business or operations. Focus on competitiveness issues, project
shortfalls, etc... Your eligibility determination will be based in part on your answer (attach
additional pages if necessary):

Applicant has carefully examined the cost of this project and its ability to succeed and has

determined that but for the sales tax abatement the project is not financially feasible.

Please confirm by checking the box, below, if there is a strong possibility that the Project would not
be undertaken but for the Financial Assistance provided by the Agency?

El Yes or[_] No

If Yes, please provide details:
and the fact the business is only seasonal, presents a challenge. Therefore, the Agency's Financial Assistance is required.

The amounl of resloration nocessary Lo stabilize restore and updale the histere bullding lo current t:u'iiding coda slandards,

If the Project could be undertaken without Financial Assistance provided by the Agency, then
provide a statement in the space provided below indicating why the Project should be undertaken
by the Agency:
Not Applicable, the project cannot be undertaken without the Agency's Financial Assistance.

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

By /o



8

If the Applicant is unable to obtain Financial Assistance for the Project, what will be the impact on
the Applicant? Most likely the inability to perform any redevelopment. Applicant

would be unable to redevelop the property due to the necessarily high standards
to assure the project is successful.

C) Will Project include leasing any equipment [_] Yes or H] No
If Yes, please describe:

D) Site Characteristics:

Describe the present use of the proposed Project site: 1 he building remains vacant and the business

has been shut down for 7+ years. The building is in decay and decline, almost to the point of tear down.

Will the Project meet zoning/land use requirements at the proposed location? [M] Yes or[_] No

If Yes, please provide local zoning reference that applies: Harbor

Describe the present zoning/land use: Harbor

Describe required zoning/land use, if different:

If a change in zoning/land use is required, please provide details/status of any request for change of
zoning/land use requirements:  Not Applicable.

Is the proposed project located on a site where the known or potential presence of contaminants is
Not Applicable.

complicating the development/use of the property? If yes, please explain:

Have site plans been submitted to the appropriate planning department?

Li_]Yes or[ ] No

** If yes, please provide the Agency with a copy of the related State Environmental Quality
Review Act (“SEQR”) Environmental Assessment Form that may have been required to be submitted

along with the site plan application to the appropriate planning department. Please provide the Agency
Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

=77-



with the status with respect to any required planning department approval;

Has the Project received site plan approval from the planning department? [] Yes or [] No.
If Yes, please provide the Agency with a copy of the planning department approval along with

the related SEQR determination.

E) Has a Phase 1 Environmental Assessment been prepared, or will one be prepared with respect to the

proposed project site? [] Yes or @] No If yes, please provide a copy.

F) Have any other studies or assessments been undertaken with respect to the proposed project site that
indicate the known or suspected presence of contamination that would complicate the site’s development?

(] Yes or [@] No. If yes, please provide copies of the study

G) Provide any additional information or details: 1€ structural, septic and environmental
surveys are finalized and approved.

H) Select Project Type for all end users at project site (you may check more than one):

** Please check any and all end users as identified below.
** Will customers personally visit the Project site for either of the following economic activities? If yes

with respect to either economic activity indicated below, complete the Retail Questionnaire contained in
Section IV of the Application.

Retail Sales: [H] Yes or[ ] No Services: [M] Yes or [ ] No

For purposes of this question, the term “retail sales” means (i) sales by a registered vendor under
Article 28 of the Tax Law of the State of New York (the “Tax Law”) primarily engaged in the retail sale
of tangible personal property (as defined in Section 1101(b)(4)(i) of the Tax Law), or (ii) sales of a
service to customers who personally visit the Project.

Industrial ] Back Office ]
Acquisition of Existing Facility [ Retail [x]
Housing O Mixed Use [x]
Equipment Purchase = Facility for Aging ]
Multi-Tenant ] Civic Facility (not for profit) . []
Commercial ] Other ]
Revised Date; , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

iy (270



I) Project Information:

Estimated costs in connection with Project:

I. Land and/or Building Acquisition:

acres

square feet

New Building Construction: 0
New Building Addition(s): 0

Infrastructure Work

Manufacturing Equipment:

R I T T N S

Other, Specify:

Reconstruction/Renovation: 10,500

square feet

square feet

square feet

Non-Manufacturing Equipment (furniture, fixtures, etc.):

Soft Costs: (professional services, etc.):

Project refinancing; estimated amount
(for refinancing of existing debt only)

Sources of Funds for Project Costs:

Bank Financing:

TOTAL Capital Costs:;

Equity (excluding equity that is attributed to grants/tax credits)

Tax Exempt Bond Issuance (if applicable)

Taxable Bond Issuance (if applicable)

Public Sources (Include sum total of all state and federal

grants and tax credits)

Identify each state and federal grant/credit:

Total Sources of Funds for Project Costs:

Revised Date:

, Revision #:

§ 530,000
5
s
5
51,400,000
$
$
5 100,000
$
$2,030,000
$
8
§ 2,030,000
5
$
s
8
b
$
3
§ 2,030,000

-79-

Document Date: 11/1/2018



11

Have any of the above costs been paid or incurred as of the date of this Application? [M] Yes or [] No

If Yes, describe particulars: purchased the property for $530,000.

Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption Benefit: Amount of mortgage that would be subject to mortgage

recording tax:

Mortgage Amount (include sum total of construction/permanent/bridge financing): § 0

Estimated Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption Benefit (product of mortgage

Amount as indicated above multiplied by __ %): $0

Construction Cost Breakdown:

Total Cost of Construction §$ 1,400,000 (sum of 2,3,4,5, and/or 7 in Question I, above)

Cost for materials: 80 $500,000
% sourced in Jefferson County: %
% sourced in New York State 100 % (including Jefferson County)

List major material suppliers if known

Cost for labor: $900,000

Expected Full-Time Equivalent Jobs during construction 10-12
Expected Total Labor Hours during construction 7.000

List maj or Subcontractors, if known Gastal Consvucson, Widrek Consiruetion, J R Elaclie, Doan's Earivmovig

Sales and Use Tax: Gross amount of costs for goods and services that are subject to State and local Sales
and Use tax - said amount to benefit from the Agency’s Sales and Use Tax exemption benefit:

$500,000

Estimated State and local Sales and Use Tax Benefit (product of 8 multiplied by the figure, above):

$40,000

** Note that the estimate provided above will be provided to the New York State Department of Taxation
and Finance. The Applicant acknowledges that the transaction documents may include a covenant by the
Applicant to undertake the total amount of investment as proposed within this Application, and that the
estimate, above, represents the maximum amount of sales and use tax benefit that the Agency may
authorize with respect to this Application. The Agency may utilize the estimate, above, as well as the
proposed total Project Costs as contained within this Application, to determine the Financial Assistance
that will be offered.

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-80-



Real Property Tax Benefit:

Identify and describe if the Project will utilize a real property tax exemption benefit OTHER
THAN the Agency’s PILOT benefit: Project will utilize Section 485-b real property tax exemptions.

JCIDA PILOT Benefit: Agency staff will indicate the amount of PILOT Benefit based on estimated
Project Costs as contained herein and anticipated tax rates and assessed valuation, including the annual
PILOT Benefit abatement amount for each year of the PILOT benefit year and the sum total of PILOT

Benefit abatement amount for the term of the PILOT as depicted in Section II(I) of the Application.

Percentage of Project Costs financed from Public Sector sources: Agency staff will calculate the

percentage of Project Costs financed from Public Sector sources based upon Sources of Funds for Project
Costs as depicted above in Section [I(I) of the Application.

J) For the proposed facility, please indicate the square footage for each of the uses outlined below:

*If company is paying for FFE for tenants, please include in cost breakdown

Square Footage Cost % of Total Cost of Project
Manufacturing/Processing 0
Warehouse 0
Research & Development 0
Commecclal 10,500 $530,000.00 100%
Retail (see section K)
Office
Specify Other

K) What is your project timetable (vaide dates):

1. Start date: acquisition of equipment or construction of facilities: August 2021

2. Estimated completion date of project: July 2022

3. Project occupancy — estimated starting date of operations: July 1, 2022

4, Have construction contracts been signed? m Yes or [ No

5. Has Financing been finalized? [] Yes or [] No Not Applicable
Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-81-



13

** If constructions contracts have been signed, please provide copies of executed construction contracts
and a complete project budget. The complete project budget should include all related consiruction costs

totaling the amount of the new building construction, and/or new building addition(s), and/or renovation.

| Yes or [ ] No

L) Is the proposed Project necessary to expand Applicant employment:

[\ Yes or[] No

[s the proposed Project necessary to retain existing employment:

M) Employment Plan (Specific to the proposed project location):

Current # of jobs at [[F FINANCIAL [F FINANCIAL Estimate number of

proposed project ASSISTANCE IS ASSISTANCE IS [residents of the Labor
lacation or to be GRANTED - project |[GRANTED — project [Market Area in which
relocated at project [the number of FTE  [the number of FTE  [the Project is located
location and PTE jobstobe  [and PTE jobs to be [that will fill the FTE
RETAINED CREATED upon and PTE jobs to be
TWO Years after  [created upon TWO

Years after Project
Completion **

Project completion

Full time

FTE)l 0 0 5 5
f,f{fg'g‘m 0 11 11
Total *** 0 0 16 16

** For purposes of this question, please estimate the number of FTE and PTE jobs that will be filled, as

indicated in the third column, by residents of the Labor Market Area, in the fourth column. The Labor

Market Area  includes Jefferson County as well as the following  Areas:

**% By statute, Agency staff must project the number of FTE jobs that would be retained and created if
the request for Financial Assistance is granted. Agency staff will project such jobs over the TWO-Year
time period following Project completion. Agency staff converts PTE jobs into FTE jobs by dividing the
number of PTE jobs by two (2). A FTE job is one that works the equivalent of a 40-hour week for 48

weeks. A PTE job is one that works the equivalent of a 20-hour week for 24 weeks.
Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-82-



Salary and Fringe Benefits for Jobs to be Retained and Created:

Category of Jobs to be |Average Salary or Range of Salary Average Fringe Benefits or Range
Retained and Created of Fringe Benefits

Management $20-$40/hour

Professional $15-$25/hour

IAdministrative $13-$20/hour

Production $13-$20/hour

Other

Employment at other locations in County/City/Town/Village: (provide address and number of employees
at each location):

(Address Address Address

Full time

Part Time
Total

N) Will any of the facilities described above be closed or subject to reduced activity? [] Yes or [H] No

** If any of the facilities described above are located within the State of New York, and you answered

Yes to the question, above, you must complete Section IV of this Application,

** Please note that the Agency may utilize the foregoing employment projections, among other items, to
determine the Financial Assistance that will be offered by the Agency to the Applicant. The Applicant
acknowledges that the transaction documenis may include a covenant by the Applicant to retain the

number of jobs and create the number of jobs with respect to the Project as set forth in this Application.

0) Is the proposed Project reasonably necessary to prevent the Applicant from moving out of New York

State? M Yes or[] No.  Out of Jefferson County?  [M] Yes or[_] No.

If yes, please explain and identify the other locations being investigated, type of assistance offered and

: & . 0 L s Thi | Ific Invesimaont In Hend Harbar, Wilhout tha Projoct tho Bullding will ramain vagant.
provide supporting documentation if available; " " @ ecle inesimontis Hondursen Horbor, Wit o Pronet o Bt

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-83-



15

P) What competitive factors led you to inquire about sites outside of Jefferson County or New York

State?
The interest is limited to this specific property

Q) Have you contacted or been contacted by other Local, State and/or Federal Economic Development
Agencies? [] Yes or [H] No.
Have you applied, or intend to apply for additional Grant Funding, or tax incentives? [H] Yes or [ ] No.

If yes, please identify which agencies and what other Local, State and/or Federal assistance and the

assistance sought and dollar amount that is anticipated to be received: Section 485-b tax exemption with

Jefferson County, the Town of Henderson, and Belleville-Henderson CSD.

Section III Retail Questionnaire

To ensure compliance with Section 862 of the New York General Municipal Law, the Agency
requires additional information if the proposed Project is one where customers personally visit the
Project site to undertake either a retail sale transaction or to purchase services.

Please answer the following:

A. Will any portion of the Project (including that portion of the cost to be financed from equity or
other sources) consist of facilities or property that are or will be primarily used in making sales of
goods or services to customers who personally visit the project site?

@ Yes or [_] No. If the answer is yes, please continue. If no, proceed to section V

For purposes of Question A, the term “retail sales” means (i) sales by a registered vendor under
Article 28 of the Tax Law of the State of New York (the “Tax Law™) primarily engaged in the
retail sale of tangible personal property (as defined in Section 1101(b)(4)(i) of the Tax Law), or
(ii) sales of a service to customers who personally visit the Project.

B. What percentage of the cost of the Project will be expended on such facilities or property
primarily used in making sales of goods or services to customers who personally visit the project?
e %. If the answer is less than 33% do not complete the remainder

of the retail determination and proceed to section V.

If the answer to A is Yes AND the answer to Question B is greater than 33,33%, indicate which
of the following questions below apply to the project:

1. Will the Project be operated by a not-for-profit corporation [] Yes or [H] No.

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-84-



16

2. Is the Project location or facility likely to attract a significant number of visitors from outside
the economic development region (list specific County or ED region) in which the project will be

located?

] Yes or [] No
If yes, please provide a third party market analysis or other documentation supporting your
response.

3. Is the predominant purpose of the Project to make available goods or services which would
not, but for the Project, be reasonably accessible to the residents of the municipality within which
the proposed Project would be located because of a lack of reasonably accessible retail trade
facilities offering such goods or services?

®] Yes or (] No
If yes, please provide a third party market analysis or other documentation supporting your

reésponse.

4. Will the Project preserve permanent, private sector jobs or increase the overall number of
permanent, private sector jobs in the State of New York?

[® Yes or[] No.

If yes, explain These jobs will include a restaurant/building manager. chef, servers, bartendars, dishwashers, cleaning

staff, maintenance workers, elc,

5. Is the Project located in a Highly Distressed Area? [_] Yes or [H] No

Section IV Inter-Municipal Move Determination

The Agency is required by State law to make a determination that, if completion of a Project benefiting
from Agency Financial Assistance results in the removal of an industrial or manufacturing plant of the
Applicant from one area of New York State to another area of the State; or in the abandonment of one or
more plants or facilities of the Applicant located within the New York State , Agency Financial
Assistance is required to prevent the Applicant from relocating out of the New York State, or is
reasonably necessary to preserve the Applicant’s competitive position in its respective industry. ‘

Explain how the Agency’s Financial Assistance is required to prevent the Project from relocating out of
New York State, or is reasonably necessary to preserve the Project occupant’s aompetttwe position in its
respective industry: Not Applicable.

Revised Date: __, Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-85-



Scctmn V: Est:mate of Re'\l Property Ta\ Abatement Beneﬂts and Percent.lge of PI'OJ ect C’osts

i n-mced fwm Publ:c Sector sources

** Section V of this Application will be: (i) completed by IDA Staff based upon information
contained within the Application, and (ii) provided to the Applicant for ultimate inclusion as part
of this completed Application,

PILOT Estimate Table Worlksheet

Dollar Value | Estimated County Tax Local Tax Rate School Tax
of New New Assessed | Rate/1000 (Town/City/Village)/1000 | Rate/1000
Construction | Value of
and Property
Renovation Subject to
Costs IDA*

*Apply equalization rate to value
PILOT % County Local School Total Full Tax | Net
Year Payment | PILOT PILOT PILOT PILOT Payment | Exemption

Amount | Amount | Amount w/o
PILOT
1
2
3
4
5
6
)
8
9
10
TOTAL

*Estimates provided are based on current property tax rates and assessment values

Revised Date:

, Revision #:

-86-

Document Date: 11/1/2018




18

Percentage of Project Costs financed from Public Sector Table Worksheet:

Total Project | Estimated | Estimated Estimated Value of | Total of Other Public
Cost Value of | Value of Sales | Mortgage Tax Incentives (Tax Credits,
PILOT Tax Incentive | Incentive Grants, ESD Incentives,
etc.)

Calculate %

(Est. PILOT + Est. Sales Tax+ Est. Mortgage Tax+ Other)/Total Project Costs: %

JCIDA will also complete a Cost-Benefit analysis using information contained within this
Application, and available to the Public.

/' Section VI Representations, Certifications and Indemnification /.

** This Section of the Application can only be completed upon the Applicant receiving, and must be
completed after the Applicant receives, JCIDA Staff confirmation that Section I through Section V
of the Application are complete.

Steven Vollmer (name of CEO or other authorized representative of Applicant)
confirms and says that  he/she is  the Sale Member and President (title)  of
The Gill House, LLC and the Gill House Inn, LLC (name of corporation or other entity) named in the attached
Application (the “Applicant™), that he/she has read the foregoing Application and knows the contents
thereof, and hereby represents, understands, and otherwise agrees with the Agency and as follows:

A, Job Listings: In accordance with Section 858-b(2) of the New York General Municipal Law,
the Applicant understands and agrees that, if the Project receives any Financial Assistance
from the Agency, except as otherwise provided by collective bargaining agreements, new
employment opportunities created as a result of the Project will be listed with the New York
State Department of Labor Community Services Division (the “DOL”) and with the
administrative entity (collectively with the DOL, the “JTPA Entities”) of the service delivery
area created by the federal job training partnership act (Public Law 97-300) (“JTPA™) in
which the Project is located.

B. First Consideration for Employment: In accordance with Section 858-b(2) of the New York
General Municipal Law, the Applicant understands and agrees that, if the Project receives any
Financial Assistance from the Agency, except as otherwise provided by collective bargaining

Revised Date; , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-87-



19

agreements, where practicable, the Applicant will first consider persons eligible to participate
in JTPA programs who shall be referred by the JTPA Entities for new employment
opportunities created as a result of the Project.

C. Annual Sales Tax Filings: In accordance with Section 874(8) of the New York General
Municipal Law, the Applicant understands and agrees that, if the Project receives any sales
tax exemptions as part of the Financial Assistance from the Agency, in accordance with
Section 874(8) of the General Municipal Law, the Applicant agrees to file, or cause to be
filed, with the New York State Department of Taxation and Finance, the annual form
prescribed by the Department of Taxation and Finance, describing the value of all sales tax
exemptions claimed by the Applicant and all consultants or subcontractors retained by the
Applicant. Copies of all filings shall be provided to the Agency.

D. Employment Reports: The Applicant understands and agrees that, if the Project receives any
Financial Assistance from the Agency, the Applicant agrees to file, or cause to be filed, with
the Agency, at least annually or as otherwise required by the Agency, reports regarding the
number of people employed at the project site, salary levels, contractor utilization and such
other information (collectively, “Employment Reports™) that may be required from time to
time on such appropriate forms as designated by the Agency. Failure to provide Employment
Reports within 30 days of an Agency request shall be an Event of Default under the PILOT
Agreement between the Agency and Applicant and, if applicable, an Event of Default under
the Agent Agreement between the Agency and Applicant. In addition, a Notice of Failure to
provide the Agency with an Employment Report may be reported to Agency board members,
said report being an agenda item subject to the Open Meetings Law.

E. The Applicant acknowledges that certain environmental representations will be required at
closing. The Applicant shall provide with this Representation, Certification and
Indemnification Form copies of any known environmental reports, including any existing
Phase | Environmental Site Assessment Report(s) and/or Phase II Environmental
Investigations. The Agency may require the Company and/or owner of the premises to
prepare and submit an environmental assessment and audit report, including but not
necessarily limited to, a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment Report and a Phase I
Environmental Investigation, with respect to the Premises at the sole cost and expense of the
owner and/or the Applicant. All environmental assessment and audit reports shall be
completed in accordance with ASTM Standard Practice E1527-05, and shall be conformed
over to the Agency so that the Agency is authorized to use and rely on the reports. The
Agency, however, does not adopt, ratify, confirm or assume any representation made within
reports required herein.

F: The Applicant and/or the owner, and their successors and assigns, hereby release, defend and
indemnify the Agency from any and all suits, causes of action, litigations, damages, losses,
liabilities, obligations, penalties, claims, demands, judgments, costs, disbursements, fees or
expenses of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, attorneys’,
consultants’ and experts’ fees) which may at any time be imposed upon, incurred by or
asserted or awarded against the Agency, resulting from or arising out of any inquiries and/or
environmental assessments, investigations and audits performed on behalf of the Applicant
and/or the owner pursuant hereto, including the scope, level of detail, contents or accuracy of
any environmental assessment, audit, inspection or investigation report completed hereunder

Revised Date: , Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-88-



20

and/or the selection of the environmental consultant, engineer or other qualified person to
perform such assessments, investigations, and audits.

G. Hold Harmless Provision: The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Applicant shall be
and is responsible for all costs of the Agency incurred in connection with any actions required
to be taken by the Agency in furtherance of the Application including the Agency’s costs of
general counsel and/or the Agency’s bond/transaction counsel whether or not the Application,
the proposed Project it describes, the attendant negotiations, or the issue of bonds or other
transaction or agreement are ultimately ever carried to successful conclusion and agrees that
the Agency shall not be liable for and agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the Agency
harmless from and against any and all liability arising from or expense incurred by: (i) the
Agency's examination and processing of, and action pursuant to or upon, the Application,
regardless of whether or not the Application or the proposed Project described herein or the
tax exemptions and other assistance requested herein are favorably acted upon by the
Agency; (ii) the Agency's acquisition, construction and/or installation of the proposed Project
.described herein; and (iii) any further action taken by the Agency with respect to the
proposed Project including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all causes of
action and attorney's fees and any other expenses incurred in defending any suits or actions
which may arise as a result of any of the foregoing. Applicant hereby understands and agrees,
in accordance with Section 875(3) of the New York General Municipal Law and the policies
of the Agency that any New York State and local sales and use tax exemption claimed by the
Applicant and approved by the Agency, any mortgage recording tax exemption claimed by
the Applicant and approved by the Agency, and/or any real property tax abatement claimed
by the Applicant and approved by the Agency, in connection with the Project, may be subject
to recapture and/or termination by the Agency under such terms and conditions as will be
established by the Agency and set forth in transaction documents to be entered into by and
between the Agency and the Applicant. The Applicant further represents and warrants that
the information contained in this Application, including without limitation information
regarding the amount of the New York State and local sales and use tax exemption benefit,
the amount of the mortgage recording tax exemption benefit, and the amount of the real
property tax abatement, if and as applicable, to the best of the Applicant’s knowledge, is true,
accurate and complete.

H. This obligation includes an obligation to submit an Agency Fee Payment to the Agency in
accordance with the Agency Fee policy effective as of the date of this Application

I By executing and submitting this Application, the Applicant covenants and agrees to pay the
following fees to the Agency and the Agency’s general counsel and/or the Agency’s
bond/transaction counsel, the same to be paid at the times indicated:

2500 i I
(i) a non-refundable § application and publication fee (the “Application Fee”);
(ii) a$ expense deposit for the Agency’s Counsel Fee Deposit. .
(iii)  Unless otherwise agreed to by the Agency, an amount equal to percent

( %) of the total project costs.

(iv)  All fees, costs and expenses incurred by the Agency for (1) legal services, including but
not limited to those provided by the Agency’s general counsel and/or the Agency’s bond/transaction

Revised Date: _, Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-89-



21

counsel, thus note that the Applicant is entitled to receive a written estimate of fees and costs of the
Agency’s general counsel and the Agency’s bond/transaction counsel; and (2) other consultants
retained by the Agency in connection with the proposed project, with all such charges to be paid by
the Applicant at the closing,

T. If the Applicant fails to conclude or consummate the necessary negotiations, or fails, within a
reasonable or specified period of time, to take reasonable proper or requested action, or
withdraws, abandons, cancels, or neglects the Application, or if the Applicant is unable to
find buyers willing to purchase the bond issue requested, or if the Applicant is unable to
facilitate the sale/leaseback or lease/leaseback transaction, then, upon the presentation of an
invoice, Applicant shall pay to the Agency, its agents, or assigns all actual costs incurred by
the Agency in furtherance of the Application, up to that date and time, including but not
necessarily limited to, fees of the Agency’s general counsel and/or the Agency’s
bond/transaction counsel.

K. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that all payment liabilities to the Agency and the
Agency’s general counsel and/or the Agency’s bond and/or transaction counsel as expressed
in Sections H and I are obligations that are not dependent on final documentation of the

transaction contemplated by this Application.

L. The cost incurred by the Agency and paid by the Applicant, the Agency’s general counsel
and/or bond/transaction counsel fees and the processing fees, may be considered as a cost of
the Project and included in the financing of costs of the proposed Project, except as limited by
the applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code with respect to tax-exempt bond
financing,

M. The Applicant acknowledges that the Agency is subject to New York State’s Freedom of
Information Law (FOIL). Applicant understands that all Project information and records
related to this application are potentially subject to disclosure under FOIL subject to
limited statutory exclusions.

N. The Applicant acknowledges that it has been provided with a copy of the Agency’s Policy for
Termination of Agency Benefits and Recapture of Agency Benefits Previously Granted (the
“Termination and Recapture Policy”). The Applicant covenants and agrees that it fully
understands that the Termination and Recapture Policy is applicable to the Project that is the
subject of this Application, and that the Agency will implement the Termination and
Recapture Policy if and when it is so required to do so. The Applicant further covenants and
agrees that its Project is potentially subject to termination of Agency financial assistance
and/or recapture of Agency financial assistance so provided and/or previously granted.

0. The Applicant understands and agrees that the provisions of Section 862(1) of the New York
General Municipal Law, as provided below, will not be violated if Financial Assistance is

provided for the proposed Project:

§ 862. Restrictions on funds of the agency. (1) No funds of the agency shall be used in
respect of any project if the completion thereof would result in the removal of an industrial or
manufacturing plant of the project occupant from one area of the state to another area of the
state or in the abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the project occupant located
within the state, provided, however, that neither restriction shall apply if the agency shall

Revised Date: _, Revision #:

Document Date: 11/1/2018

-90-



22

determine on the basis of the application before it that the project is reasonably necessary to
discourage the project occupant from removing such other plant or facility to a location
outside the state or is reasonably necessary to preserve the competitive position of the project
occupant in its respective industry. :

The Applicant confirms and acknowledges that the owner, occupant, or operator receiving
Financial Assistance for the proposed Project is in substantial compliance with applicable
local, state and federal tax, worker protection and environmental laws, rules and regulations.

The Applicant confirms and acknowledges that the submission of any knowingly false or
knowingly misleading information may lead to the immediate termination of any Financial
Assistance and the reimbursement of an amount equal to all or part of any tax exemption
claimed by reason of the Agency’s involvement the Project.

The Applicant confirms and hereby acknowledges that as of the date of this Application, the
Applicant is in substantial compliance with all provisions of Article 18-A of the New York
General Municipal Law, including, but not limited to, the provision of Section 859-a and
Section 862(1) of the New York General Municipal Law.

The Applicant and the individual executing this Application on behalf of Applicant
acknowledge that the Agency and its counsel will rely on the representations and covenants
made in this Application when acting hereon and hereby represents that the statements made
herein do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and do not omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements contained herein not misleading.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON  )ss.:

StBVEﬂ VO”mer , being first duly sworn, deposes and says:

Sole Member and President The Gill House, LLC and The Gill Housa Inn, LLC
That 1 am the (Corporate Office) of

(Applicant) and that I am duly authorized on behalf of the Applicant to bind the Applicant.

That I have read the attached Application, I know the contents thereof, and that to the best of
my knowledge and belief, this Application and the contents of this Application are true,
accurate and complete,

-

(Signature of Officer)

Subscribed and affirmed to me under penalties of perjury

this  day of 520

Revised Date: __, Revision #:

(Notary Public)

Document Date: 11/1/2018

9]~



Project Narrative and Purpose:

At the request of The Gill House, LLC and its related entity The Gill House Inn, LLC (together, the
“Company”), proposes to undertake a project (the “Project”) consisting of: (A)(i) the renovation and
reconstruction of the existing approximate 10,500 square foot 2 story historic inn/restaurant (known as
The Gill House) located at 13565 County Route 123 in the Town of Henderson, County of Jefferson, New
York (the “Land”) for use as an approximate 10 bedroom inn with a restaurant and bar, with approximately
10,500 square feet of commercial space, together with landscaping and site improvements, all located on
the Land (the “Facility”); (ii) the acquisition and installation thereon of furniture, fixtures and equipment
(the “Equipment” and together with the Land and the Facility, the “Project Facility”); (B) the granting of
certain financial assistance in the form of exemptions from real property tax, State and local sales and use
taxation (the “Financial Assistance”); (C) the appointment of the Company as an agent of the Agency in
connection with the acquisition, renovation, reconstruction and equipping of the Project Facility; and
(D) the lease or sale of the Land and Facility by the Agency pursuant to a lease or sale agreement and the
acquisition of an interest in the Equipment pursuant to a bill of sale from the Company to the Agency; and
the sublease or sale of the Project Facility back to the Company pursuant to a sublease or sale agreement.

{MD732494.1)

s



Cost-Benefit Analysis for GILL HOUSE

Prepared by Jefferson County LDC using InformAnalytics

-93-



Executive Summary

~ INVESTOR TOTAL JOBS TOTAL INVESTED LOCATION TIMELINE
The Gill House, 10 Ongoing; $2.0 Million 13565 County 10 Years
LLC 15 Temporary Route 123,
Henderson, NY
13650
Fi FIGURE1
Discounted* Net Benefits for GILL HOUSE by Y '
R Total Net Benefits: $2,914,000
1 500k
1 000k
500k

B W

-500k
Year] Year2 Year3 Yeard Years Yeard Year7 Yeard Year9  YearlO

@ Benefits @ Costs -O- Net Benefits

F2  FIGURE 2 F3  FIGURE3"

Total Jobs Total Payroll

remoocer RN remporary NI
ongoine RN

0 1 -2 3
0 5 10 15 20 Millions of Dollars

© Direct @ Spillover @ Direct @ Spillover

-94-



Proposed Investment

The Gill House, LLC proposes to invest $2.0 million at 13565 County Route 123, Henderson, NY 13650 over 10
years. Jefferson County LDC staff summarize the proposed with the following: Restore 10,500 Historic

Inn/Restaurant
1 TABLE1 4 FIGURE 4
Proposed Investments Location of Investment

Description y Amount
CONSTRUCTION SPENDING

i
OTHER SPENDING

Purchase Building $530,000
Total Investments $2.030,000
Discounted Total (2%) $2,030,000

May_nut sum to total due to rounding.

-95-



Cost-Benefit Analysis

A cost-benefit analysis of this proposed investment was conducted using InformAnalytics, an economic impact
model developed by CGR. The report estimates the impact that a potential project will have on the local
economy based on information provided by Jefferson County LDC. The report calculates the costs and benefits
for specified local taxing districts over the first 10 years, with future returns discounted at.a 2% rate.

T2  TABLEZ

Estimated Costs or Incentives

Jefferson County LDC is considering the following incentive package for The Gill House, LLC.

Description Nominal Vaius Discounted Value®
Sales Tax Exemnption $45,000 $45,000
Total Costs $45,000 $45,000

May not sum to total due to rounding.
* Discounted at 2%

-96-



T3 TABLE3

State & Regional Impact (Life of Project)
The following table estimates the total benefits from the project over its lifetime.

Description Direct Spillover Total
REGIONAL BENEFITS $2,925,000 $129,000 $3,054,000
To Private Individuais 52,867,000 $127,000 52,995,000
Temparary Payroll $518,000 $127,000 $645,000
Ongoing Payroll $2,350,000 $0 $2,350,000
~To the Public 558,000 52,000 560,000
Temporary Sales
T35 Beveniia $7,000 $2,000 $8,000
Ongoing Sales Tax
Revenue $30,000 $0 $30,000
Purchases Sales _
T Baipariiie $21,000 N/A $21,000
STATE BENEFITS $100,000 $7,000 $108,000
To the Public £100,000 $7.000 5108,000

Temporary Income

Tax Revenue $23,000 $6,000 . $29,000

Ongoing Income
Tax Revenue $19,000 . $0 $19,000

Temporary Sales

Tax Revenue X $2.000 P
Ongoing Sales Tax $30,000 30 $30,000
Revenue

Purchases Sales $21,000 N/A $21,000

Tax Revenue

Total Benefits to State & N '
AL RERENES t0 Sate $2,026,000 136,000 43,162,000
Region i

Discounted Total Benefits

2? ’
(2%) $2,822,000 $136,000 $2,959,000

-97-



T4 TABLE4

Benefit to Cost Ratio
The following benefit to cost ratios were calculated using the discounted totals.

Description Benefig* Cost* Ratio
Region $2,855,000 $22,000 127:1
State $103,000 $22,000 51
Grand Total $2,959,000 $45,000 66:1

May not sum to total due to rounding.
* Discounted at 2%

CGR has exercised reasonable professional care and diligence in the production and design of the InformAnalytics™ tool. However, the data used is
provided by users. InformAnalytics does not independently verify, validate or audit the data supplied by users. CGR makes no representations or

warranties with respect to the éc:uracy of the data supplied by users.

-98-



Juesqy - w1

pasnox3 - N

Jussald - o

1S|Ej0 ]

Ined “joausep

PIEMPT "M “HOIPIIEM

esIT J8l|InH, T

wel|Ipn ‘uosuyor

uyor ‘sbuiuuap

ol W oo o o o

pineQ ‘asianuon

o|lolo|o|o)] o o)~

olo|lwo|lo o o e

ol oo W o) W o w

ol o)l W o) ol o) ol o

[ % [« Ty« ) I« I« Y (T Y
O o oo oo A O o) ~
oo oo o o oo =

d

o|lojWloajo|o oo

oo < oo oo w

o|lo|lo|o| oo o~

Haqoy ‘osselly

dog

Bny

=
=

unp

Aepy

ady

BN | 1202/8L/2 | g9od uep J8a

AON

0

SweN

@auBpuany pieog Lz0z-0Z02

S985-28L (51€)
L09EL AN ‘umopajepn
008 3UNS ‘anuany ¥onqJels 008 -
foueby juswdojensq [eusnpul Aunoy uosiaysr



